AIIM SCANNER TEST CHART #2

-203456

123456

123456

54321

.

•• 22

		Chaotra											
	4 PT	ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPQRSTUVWX	YZabcdefghljklmnopqrstuvwxyz;:",.	/?\$0123456789	1. 1000100150700								
	6 PT 8 PT	ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPC	INOPQRSTUVWX	YZabcdefghijkln	nnopqrstuvwxyz;:	'',./?\$012345	6789						
•	10 PT	ABCDEFGHIJ	KLMNOPQRST	FUVWXYZab	cdefghijklmno	pqrstuvwx	/z;:'',./?\$0	123456	789				
	4 PT	Times Roman	YZahodefehiiklmnoporstuywyyz::'`./?	250123456789									
	6 PT	ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPQ	RSTUVWXYZabcdefghi	jklmnopqrstuvwxyz;:''	./?\$0123456789	19801024567	20						
	8 PT 10 PT	ABCDEFGHIKLM	INOPORSIUVWX (LMNOPORST)	UVWXYZabc	defghiiklmnond	irstuvwxvz	;; ;;'/?\$0123	3456789					
	1011	Century Sch	oolbook Bold	l		1.000.000	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,						
	4 рт 6 РТ	ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPQRSTU ABCDEFGHIJKLMN	VWXYZabcdefghijklmnopqrstu OPQRSTUVWXYZabo		stuvwxyz;:",./?\$0123	456789							
	8 PT	ABCDEFGHIJK	LMNOPQRSTU	VWXYZabcde	fghijklmnopqre	tuvwxyz;:"	,./?\$0123450	3789	0 h o d				
	10 PT	ABCDEFGHI	JKLMNOPQ	RSTUVWX	YZabcdefgh	ijklmnop	qrstuvw	«yz;:",./	?\$01	45678	9		
	4 PT	ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPORSTUVWXY	Zabcdefghijklmnopqrstuvwxyz::".	/?\$0123456789									
	6 PT	аранан (к. т.	·	• • •	• • •	• ·	. :•						ŀ
	10 PT	4 1 1	•••	. .	· · ·	•	•		• :•				
		Bodoni Italic											
	4 PT 6 PT	ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPQRSTUVWX ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPQ	YZabcdefghijklmnopqrstuvwxyz;: ",. QRSTUVWXYZabcdefghi	./? \$ 0123456789 ijklmnopqrstuvwxyz;:	",./?\$0123456789								
	8 PT	ABCDEFGHIJKLM	INOPQRSTUVWX KI MNODORS7	YZabcdefghijkln TUVWYVZabo	inopqrstuvwxyz;: dofabijklmnor	",./?\$0123456	789 ~··'' /? 01	224567	20				
		Greek and Mat	h Symbols		uejgnijkinnop	φιδιάθωλ	2,. ,./ 01	2343070)7				
	4 PT 6 PT	ΑΒΓΔΕΞΘΗΙΚΛΜΝΟΠΦΡΣΤΥΩΞΨΖ ΑΒΓΔΕΞΘΗΙΚΛΜΝΟΠΦ	αβγδεξθηιφκλμνοπφρστυωχψζ≥±", ΡΣΤΥΩΞΨΖαβγδεξθηιφι	′≤≠*°><= κλμνοπφρστυωγψζ≥±	″,./≤=≠°><≡								
	8 PT	ΑΒΓΔΕΞΘΗΙΚΛΜΝ	ΝΟΠΦΡΣΤΥΩΞΨΖ	αβγδεξθηιφκλμι	νοπφρστυωχψζ≥±	″,./≤=≠°><≡							
	10 P I	ΑΒΙ ΔΕΞΘΗΙΚ/	λΜΝΟΠΦΡΣΤΥ	ι ΩΞΨΖαβγδε	ςθηιφκλμνο πφ	ρστυωχ	≥±",./≤=≠°	><≡				•	
		W	hite		Black	Isc	lated Chara	cters					
105	2456	· ·				е	m	1	2	3	a		654321
120	9450					. 4	5	6	7	0	0		034321
						8	° 9	0	h	T	В	A	4 Page 6543210
								•		· ·			
				•									
	MESH	HALFTONE W	/EDGES										
		1 1 1	· · · · · ·										
	65												
	85												
	100												
	110												
	133												
	150												
	150												
			SSEALTERNET AND AND AND A	LANDAL WILLIAM AND						_		1	

65400

A4 Page 6543210

_____654321

04004

1234

A4 Page F +3210

654321







APPLICATION OF BASAL AREA CONTROL TO AN UNDER-STOCKED STAND IN THE APPALACHIANS

by

Allan L. Hartong

A Thesis

Presented to the Faculty

of the

School of Forestry and Conservation

University of Michigan

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Forestry

June 1, 1946

CONTENTS

PAGE

- 1. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
- 2. INTRODUCTION
- 2. DESCRIPTION OF THE AREA
- 4. OOLLECTION AND INTERPRETATION OF ORUISE DATA
- 9. ESTIMATION OF FUTURE RATE OF GROWTH
- 11. PRELIMINARY INVESTIGATIONS AND DECISIONS
- 22. DEVELOPMENT OF CONTROL TABLES
- 24. DEVELOPMENT OF CLASSIFIED STAND AND STOCK TABLES
- 31. ESTIMATION OF PRESENT OUT
- 34. ESTIMATION OF FUTURE OUTS
- 50. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS
- 51. CALCULATION OF LUMBER SELLING PRICES
- 59. CALCULATION OF LOG AND LUMBER PRODUCTION COSTS
- 69. CALCULATION OF FUELWOOD VALUES
- 72. VALUATION OF THE FOREST PROPERTY
- 75. CONCLUSION
- 77. REFERENCES

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

-l-

To Professor D. M. Matthews, the writer wishes to extend sincere thanks and appreciation for invaluable assistance and advice rendered in preparing this paper. Without his help and suggestions, the construction of this thesis would have been difficult at best. Credit is due also to T. V. A.'s Department of Forestry Relations for furnishing copies of data collected by the writer while employed by that bureau.

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this paper is to show how forest management may be applied to an under-stocked timber stand in the Appalachians. The whole theory of forest management is build upon the premise that the individual trees within a stand should have "room to grow, but none to waste." It follows quite naturally, therefore, that the most intelligent method of achieving a regulated forest condition is to allow only that number of trees upon a certain area which can effectively utilize the productive capacity of that area. This means that the number of individual stems (as expressed in the square feet of their basal area) is the best criterion of the degree of stocking which any particular area should be allowed to attain.

The procedure to be followed in this particular case is to determine the basal area that each of three different composition types can reasonably be expected to carry while maintaining optimum growth, and then restrict the removal of other than harvest and defective trees until the determined basal area has been attained.

DESCRIPTION OF THE AREA

The area presented here for discussion is classified as a Yellow-Pine-Hardwoods Type, and is located in the southern Appalachian region. The species of pine found are shortleaf and Virginia, and the more important hardwoods, from the standpoint of stand composition, are as follows: chestnut, red, black, white and scarlet oaks; yellow poplar;

-2-

hickory; beech; gum and maple. The entire ownership consists of 4,556 acres, 3,387 of which are wooded.

This area is owned by an institution, and, when purchased, was well stocked with a high proportion of old-growth yellow poplar and white eak. From all indications, the site is far above average in quality, and the rugged terrain precludes the area's use for purposes other than the growing of trees. Continuous practice of the so-called "high grading" method of logging, and recurrent fires, have changed the complexion of the stand to such an extent that inferior species now dominate the area. Nearly one-fourth of all the trees are defective, and should be removed within the next ten years if their total loss is to be averted.

The present owners have expressed their desire to place the stand on a sound management basis, and have indicated a willingness to install adequate forest fire protection and such other protective and forestry measures as may be needed. The institution owns and operates a small portable sawmill, as well as a wood-working shop capable of producing a wide variety of forest products. This sort of a set-up will permit of a higher degree of utilization than is practicable on most nearby areas of a similar character, and will greatly enhance the possibilities of developing good forestry practices.

Until quite recently, the institution was completely independent of the competitive lumber market for supplying it's own needs for construction and maintenance materials and other forest products (furniture,

-3-

posts, poles, etc.). Lately, however, the owners have become greatly concerned over their poorly-stocked timber resources, and their primary objective at the present time is to convert these resources, as quickly as possible, into such a condition as will assure them of a perpetual supply of raw materials.

COLLECTION AND INTERPRETATION OF CRUISE DATA

Due to the present low value of the stand and the small amount of funds allocated for the purpose, a comparatively low intensity (2%) of eruise was made. The cruise was made by tallying all trees 6" d. b. h., and up, on 1/5-acre plots spaced 10 chains apart on parallel strips spaced 10 chains apart. In addition, increment borings were made of the nearest merchantable (10" d. b. h., and up, for pine, and 12" d. b. h., and up, for hardwoods) tree to the center of each plot.

In order to provide a means of distinguishing between the several stand components, the following classification of Condition Classes and Types was established:

Condition Olasses

- 0. Areas excluded from forest management in order to preserve aesthetic values.
- I. Areas on which a cut of approximately 2 M ft., b. m., per acre can be made within the next 10 years.
- II. Areas on which a cut of at least 2 M ft., b. m., cannot be made until 10 years from now.
- III. Areas on which a cut of at least 2 M ft., b. m., cannot be made until 20 years from now.

-4-

Pine. Areas with 75% or more of the merchantable volume in pine. Pine-Hardwood. Areas with less than 75%, but more than 25%, of the merchantable volume in pine.

Hardwood. Areas with 25% or less of the merchantable volume in pine.

While making the cruise, each of the foregoing condition classes and types were mapped as they were encountered. Upon completion of the cruise, the areas of the various pertions of the stand were determined by a planimeter. The results are presented in Table I.

Table I

Acreage

Туре	Forest Land Condition Class				Scenic Woodland	
					Condition Class	
	I	II	III	Total	00	
Pine	117	132	152	401		
Pine-Hardwood	260	453	298	1,011		
Hardwood	486	597	726	1,809	• •	
Totals	863	1,182	1,176	3,221	166	
Entire Woodland, Total					3,387	
Open Land					1,169	
Entire Property, Total					4,556	

Gross volume computation was accomplished by applying the data recorded in the tally sheets to Tables II, III and IV. These tables were assembled by the Forest Resources Division, TVA Department of Forestry Relations, and the following form classes were used: 76 for chestnut oak,

Types

-5-

Table II

HARDWOOD VOLUME TABLE BOARD FEET INT. $\frac{1}{4}$ " LOG RULE

FORM CLASS 76

		Number of 16-Foot Logs								
DBH	1/2	1	11/2	2	2 1	3	3 ¹ / ₂	4	4 1 /2	5
10	19	36								
12	29	51	71	90	· ·					
14	42	72	100	130	150	170				
16	57	100	140	170	200	230	260	280		
18	74	130	180	220	260	300	330	360	380	
20	92	160	230	280	330	380	420	450	470	490
22	110	200	280	· 340	400	460	510	550	580	610
24	130	240	330	410	490	560	620	670	700	730
26	150	280	390	490	580	670	740	800	840	870
28	180	330	450	570	680	790	870	940	980	1020
30	210	380	530	660	790	910	1000	1080	1140	1180
32	240	440	610	770	910	1040	.1140	1240	1310	1350
34	270	500	690	870	1030	1180	1300	1400	1490	1540
36	310	560	780	980	1160	1330	1470	1580	· 168 0	1740
38	350	630	870	1090	1290	1480	1640	1770	1880	1950 ·
40	390	700	960	1200	1430	1650	1820	1970	2090	2160
42	430	770	1060	1330	1580	1830	2020	2180	2310	2390
44	470	840	1170	1470	1740	2010	2220	2400	2540	2630
46	520	920	1290	1610	1910	2210	2440	2620	2790	2890
48	570	1010	1410	1760	2090	2410	2670	2860	3050	3160
50	620	1100	1530	1910	2270	2620	2900	3120	3320	3430

Table III

-7-

HARDWOOD VOLUME TABLE BOARD FEET INT. $\frac{1}{4}$ " LOG RULE

FORM CLASS 78

_		NUMBER OF 16-FOOT LOGS							
DBH	$\begin{pmatrix} 1\\ (/6) \end{pmatrix}$		2 (32)	2] (4)	3 (4 <i>8</i>)	2) 22 (52)	<u> </u>	4音	(3 0)
- 10	40	50	70						
12	60	80	100						
14	80	110	140	160	180				
16	110	150	190	220	250				
18	140	200	240	[.] 290	320	370	400		
20	170	240	· 300	370	400	480	510		
22	210	300	370	460	500	590	630		
24	250	350	450	540	610	700	750		
26	300	430	530	640	730	830	890		
28	350	500	620	750	. 850	960	1040	1090	1140
30	400	570	710	870	980	1120	1210	1250	1300
32	460	660	810	1000	1120	1290	1380	1440	1490
34	520	740	920	1120	1280	1450	1560	1630	1700
36	590	840	1040	1270	مبليلد	1640	1760	1840	1920
38	660	930	1160	1420	1610	1830	1980	2050	2150
40	730	1040	1290	1580	1790	2050	2210	2300	2400
42	810	1160	1430	1750	1980	2260	2450	2510	2650
<u>144</u>	890	1270	1570	1920	2180	2490	2690	2800	2920
46	970	1390	1720	2110	2390	2740	2940	3060	3200
48	1060	1510	1870	2300	2600	2970	3210	3340	3500
50	1160	1650	2030	2510	2820	3240	3490	3660	3830

Table IV

. •

CONIFER VOLUME TABLE BOARD FEET INT. 4" LOG RULE

FORM CLASS 80

		NUMBER OF 16-FOOT LOGS							
DBH	1	$1\frac{1}{2}$ (24)	2 (32)	21 (4 0)	3 (42)	312 (56)	(64)		5 (80)
8	20	30	40	(45)	50				
10	40	50	70	80	80				
12	60	80	100	120	130	150	160		
<u></u> 14	80	. 120	140	160	180	210	220		
, 16	110	160	190	220	হাত	280	300		
18	140	200	[•] 250	280	310	360	380		
20	180	250	310 .	360	390	450	480		
22	220	310	380	450	480	560	590		
24	270	370	460	530	580	680	710		••
26	320	ЦЦО	540	630	690	800	840		
28	370	520	630	740	810	940	990	1120	1160
30	430	600	730	860	930	1080	1150	1290	1340
32	490	680	840	970	1060	1240	1320	1480	1530
34	550	770	950	1110	1210	1410	1500	1680	1730
36	620	880	1070	1250	1360	1590	1690	1890	1950
38	690	980	1190	1400	1520	1780	1890	2110	2190
40	770	1090	1320	1550	1690	1980	2100	2360	stitto
42	850	1200	1460	1720	1870	2180	2320	2600	2700
7 1 1	940	1330	1610	1890	2060	51100	2550	2860	2970
46	1030	1430	1770	2080	2260	2630	2790	3150	3260
48	1120	1580	1930	1 2270	2470	2870	3040	3430	3550
50	1220	1730	2100	2470	2690	3120	3300	3710	3850

78 for all other hardwoods and 80 for all conifers. Net sawtimber volumes were obtained by observing the following deductions for defect:

Virginia Pine	4%	Basswood	12%
Hemlock	5	Cucumber Tree	12
Shortleaf Pine	6	Cherry	6
Black and Southern Red Oak	7	Black Gum	10
Scarlet Oak	8	Hickory	5
Chestnut Oak	10	Beech and Buckeye	10
Northern Red and White Oak	7	Maple	12
Post Oak	10	Yellow Poplar	5
Ash	5	Black Walnut	7

When tabulated, the distribution of volume was found to be as presented in Table V. (See page 10).

In spite of the recurrent fires that have devastate the area, present stocking of those trees below 6^{H} d. b. h. is entirely satisfactory with one exception, and, if protected by the anticipated fire control system, should adequately meet all future requirements. The one exception is the 300 acres of the Pine-Hardwood Type in Condition Class III, and this area is to be planted with shortleaf pine within the very near future.

ESTIMATION OF FUTURE RATE OF GROWTH

Increment borings were tallied as radial growth for the last fiveyear period by measuring the distance between the last five growth rings to the nearest 0.05 inch. 254 trees were tallied with a total radial

Table V

Sawtimber Volume Summary-Total Area

(By International 1/4" Log Rule)

Forest Land

Type	Defective	Sound	Total V	Total	
••			Defective	Sound	Trees
		<u>Condition</u> (lass I		•
Pine	89,679	142,271			
Pine-Hardwood	135,236	620,993		. • •	
Hardwood	538,915	1,468,712			
Totals	763,830	2,231,976	763,830	2,231,976	2,995,806
		<u>Oondition</u> (lass II		
Pine	69,610	212,248			
Pine-Hardwood	239,283	651,566			
Hardwood â	364,659	1,248,707	. •		
Totals	673,552	2,112,521	673,552	2,112,521	2,786,073
		Condition O	tass III		
Pine		47,374	۴		
Pine-Hardwoodi	41,279	69,424			
Hardwood	86,426	376,239		- 	· .
Totals	127,705	493,037	127,705	493,037	620,742
Forest Land To	tal (All tr	ees)	1,565,087	4,837,534	6,402,621
Tot	al by Types	(Includes)	111 Conditie	n Classes)	•
Pine		· · · · ·	159,289	401,893	561,182
Pine-Hardwood			415,798	1,341,983	1,757,781
Hardwood			990,000	3,093,658	4,083,658
Forest Land To	otal (All tr	ees)	1,565,087	4,837,534	6,402,621
		•			
	Georgie M	adland (am		- 0)	

Scenic Woodland (Condition Class 0)

All Types

67,614 863,583 931,197

• *2*

growth of 252.50 inches. Dividing the total radial growth by the total number of trees, we obtain 252.50/254 or 0.994 inches of average radial growth per tree. In order to obtain the average annual rate of growth, we multiply 0.994 by 2 and divide by 5, and obtain 1.998/5 or 0.3976, say 0.4, inch per year. It is believed advisable to use this rate of growth for the whole area rather than a separate rate of growth for each condition class, because the condition classes represent past methods of logging and intensity of burn rather than quality of site. Inasmuch as the data used was obtained from trees with more than enough room in which to grow, and which, in a good many cases, have only recently recovered from the detrimental effects of a severe burn, it is believed that the estimated future rate of growth of 0.4 inches per year is as reasonable an estimate as can be made.

PRELIMINARY INVESTIGATIONS AND DECISIONS

The distribution of all the trees and volume, when reduced to a per acre basis, is found in Table VI. Inspection of this table (see pages 12 and 15) reveals that due to the very small quantity of trees and volume per average acre, the only practical method in which a satisfactory management plan may be formulated is to deal with each of the nine combinations of condition classes and types separately. The defective portion of the stand is not considered to be a reliable basis on which to make a decision regarding the maximum size that future harvest trees should be allowed to attain. Inspection of the data for the sound portion of the stand only, shows that the volume, in ft. b. m., per sq. ft. of basal area increases gradually up to 20" d. b. h. for pines, and up to 24" d. b. h.

-11-

Table VI

Volume and Tree Distribution per Average Acre

Defective Trees

D. B. H., Inches	Number of Trees	B. A. per dia class, sq. ft.	Vol., ft. b. m.	Volume, ft. b. m. per sq. ft. of BA
		Pines		
6	.28	0.06		
8	. 25	0.09		
10	.29	0.16	12	75
12	.25	0.20	19	95 -
14	.10	0.11	12	109
16	.02	0.03	2	67
18	.01	0.02	3	150
24	.02	0.06	4	67
26	.01	0.04	6	150
Totals	1.23	0.77	58	
		Hardwoods		
6	•51	0.10		
· 8	.70	0.25		
10	_89	0.49	_	
12	•66	0.51	40	78
14	•57	0.611	51	84
16	.40	0.55	36	65
18	.41	0.73	78	107
20	•25	0.55	68	124
22	•14	0.37	44	119
24	.11	0.35	35	100
26	•06	0.22	32	145
28	•03	0.13	19	146
34	.02	0.13	7	54
Totals	4.75	4.99	410	

Table VI (Concluded)

Volume and Tree Distribution per Average Acre

Sound Trees

DBH, Inches	No. of Trees	B. A. per dia. class, sq. ft.	Vol., ft. b. m.	Vol. per sq. ft. of B. A.	Vol. per Tree
		<u>P</u>	ines		
6	3.06	0.60			
8	1.93	0.67			
10	1.55	0.85	64	75	41.3
12	1.35	1.06	107	101	23.7
14	.92	0.98	110	112	24.0
16	•53	0.74	90	122	26.7
18	.18	0.32	42	131	29.4
20	•03	0.07	10	143	30.7
Totals	9.55	5.29	423		
		Her	dwoods		
6	5.70	1.12			
8	3.91	1.37			
10	2.40	1.31	2	2	
12	2.13	1.67	133	80	65.8
14	1.83	1.95	178	91	103.0
16	1.47	2.05	222	113	163.8
18	.78	1.58	163	118	233.5
20	•40	0.87	117	135	320.0
22	.24	0.63	86	137	416.5
24	.19	0.60	87	145	475.0
26	.06	0.22	32	145	600.0
28	•05	0.21	23	110	500.0
30	.02	0.10	77	700	350.0
32	•03	0.17	28	165	933•3
Totals	19.21	13.65	1.078	·	

for hardwoods. The reduction of this ratio above 26^{**} for hardwoods indicates defect in those hardwood trees larger than 26^{*} , and it is therefore decided to set a maximum average harvest diameter of 20^{*} for the Pine Type and 24^{*} for the Hardwood Type. Since the Pine-Hardwood Type is expected to gradually increase it's complexion towards that of the Pine Type, the harvest diameter set for the Pine-Hardwood Type is the same as for the Pine Type, i. e., 20^{*} .

The volume-per-tree columns in the "sound trees" part of the table were tabulated for the purpose of obtaining data with which to construct merchantable height-d. b. h. curves that are to be used in estimating future cuts. Since the volumes for chestnut oak were computed for a different form class than was the remainder of the hardwood volumes, they are excluded from the hardwood volume-per-tree column.

In order to form a decision on the number of square feet of basal area that each type should be allowed to carry when fully-stocked, the data presented in Tables VII and VIII on page 15 were obtained. These figures show the square feet of basal area that various fully-stocked stands would contain if all of the trees on one acre were of a certain average diameter. For example, if we refer to the <u>Yield Table for</u> <u>Second-Growth Southern Pines</u> (Table VII) we find that if one acre were fully-stocked with trees averaging 6.9 inches in diameter, the total basal area of the trees on that acre would be 146 square feet. Similarly, by referring to the yield table for Oak, which can reasonably be applied to all hardwoods, (Table VIII), we find that one fully-stocked acre of trees averaging 11.4 inches in diameter would contain 133 square feet

-14-

Table VII

Yield Table fo	r Second-Grou	th Southern Pines (1)*					
(One Acre for each Diameter or Size Class)							
Age, years	Diameter in inches	Basal area in square feet					
20	6.9	146					
25	8.2	162					
30	9.5	169					
35	10.6	172					
40	11.7	174					
45	12.7	174					
50	13.6	174					
90	19.9	174					
95	20.6	174					
100	21.2	174					

Table VIII

Yield Table for High Forest of Oak on I., or best, quality of Locality (2)

(One Acre for each Size Class) Mean diameter Basal area in in inches square feet 6.1 103 115 8.2 9.9 125 133 140 11.4 12.8 14.2 145 149 15.5 16.9 153 157 18.4 19.6 160 21.0 163 22.3 166 168 23.5

* Refer to the list of references at the end of this paper for the

identification of numbers in parentheses.

of basal area. Now if we were to plot these various basal areas over their respective diameters, we would obtain a pair of curves from which the basal area of a fully-stocked acre for any given diameter could be read. These two curves have therefore been constructed; one for the pines and one for the hardwoods, and are found in Figure I on page 17.

By referring to these curves, and judging from their trends, it was decided that the Pine Type should be allowed to carry a stocking of 150 sq. ft. of basal area and the Hardwood Type 126 sq. ft. Inasmuch as the Pine-Hardwood Type is now composed primarily of hardwoods, with an expected increase in the proportion of pine, the basal area for this type was placed between the two foregoing types at 135 sq. ft.

Due to the present low degree of stocking on the area as a whole, it was felt that too short a cutting cycle would be neither feasible nor practicable. Conversely, too long a cutting cycle might result in the loss of trees now classed as sound but which will quite likely become defective if allowed to grow too long. Consequently, a cutting cycle of 10 years was selected.

Since the estimated future rate of growth was determined to be $0.4^{\#}$ per year, and the average maximum harvest diameter was set at 24[#] for the Hardwood Type and 20[#] for the other two types, the rotation for the former type would be $24^{\#}/0.4^{\#}$ or 60 years and $20^{\#}/0.4^{\#}$ or 50 years for the latter two.

-16-



-17-

Before we can proceed to formulate any decision regarding the treatment of each of the individual stand components, it is necessary to break each of these components down to a per acre basis for further inspection. The nine different portions then appear as presented in Table IX which follows.

Täble IX

Stand and Stock Tables

(Average Acre)

D. B. H.,	Number of Trees	Basal Area per	Volume, ft. b. m.
Inche s	Total Defective	diam. class, sq. ft. Total Defective	Total Defective

Condition Class I

	Ha	rdwood Ty	pe (represen	nting 486 a	ores)	
6	8.2	0.4	1.61	0.08		
8	6.9	0.3	2.41	0.10		-
10 0	5.1	1.6	2.78	0.87	12	
12	4.7	0.8	3.69	0.63	287	47
14	4.7	1.1	5.03	1.18	455	96
16	4.4	0.6	6.14	0.84	626	83
18	3.0	0.3	5.30	0.53	595	62
20	2,1	0.9	4.58	1.96	533	238
22	1.5	0.7	3.96	1.85	561	250
24	0.8	0.3	2.51	0.94	342	109
26	0.4	0,1	1.48	0.37	213	53
28	0.5	0.2	2.14	0.86	279	125
32	0.2		1.12		182	
34	0.1	0.1	0.63	0.63	46 0	46
Fotals	42.6	7.4	43.33	10.84	4,131	1,109

Table IX (Continued)

Stand and Stock Tables

(Average Acre)

D. B. H., Inches	Number of Trees		Basal diam. clu	Area per ass, sq. ft.	Volume,	ft. b. m.
	Total	Defective	Total	Defective	Total	Defective
		Cor	ndition Ole	ASS I	į	
	Pine-	Hardwood T	pe (repre	eenting 260 a	cres)	
6	5.7	0.4	1.09	0.08		
8	6.7	1.0	2,34	0.35		•
10	6.7	0.7	3.65	0,38	180	26
12	7.8	1.0	6,13	0.79	606	67
14	4.3	0.4	4.60	0.43	504	46
16	4.3	0.9	6.10	1.26	721	1,45
- 18	1.3	0.4	2.30	0.71	299	89
20	0.6	· .	1.31		147	
22	0.4		1.06		129	
24	0.4		1.26		176	
26	0.3	0.3	1.11	1.11	147	147
Totals	<u>38</u> ,5	5.1	30.95	5.11	2,909	520
		Pine Type (represent	ing 117 acres	2	
6	10.5	1.5	2,06	0.29		
8	7.5	1.0	2.62	0.35		
10	8.9	4.5	4.85	2.46	235	94
12	6.0	2.5	4.71	1,96	494	1813
14	4.0		4.28		506	
16	2.5	1.0	3.49	1.40	423	166
18	1.0	1.0	1.77	1.77	153	153
20	0.5	0.5	1.09	1.09	172	172
Totals	40.9	12.0	24 .97	9.32	1,983	766





Table IX (Continued)

Stand and Stock Tables

(Average Acre)

D. B. H., Inches	Number	of Trees	Basal Area per diam, class, sq. ft.		Volume,	ft. b. m.
11101100	Total I	ofective	Total	Defective	Total	Defective
					·	
		Ooi	ndition 0.	lass II		
	Han	rdwood Type	e (represe	enting 597 acr	8 8)	
6	10.5	0.9	2.06	0,18		
8	8.3	1.2	2.90	0.42	_	
10	5.5	1.1	3.00	0.60	18	3
12	6.1 1	1.5	4.80	1.18	387	977
14	4.7	0.8	5.02	0.85	476	75
16	2.7	0.4	3.76	0.56	415	41
18	2.5	0.9	4.411	0.44	550	173
20	0.9	0.2	1.96	1.59	314	56 6
22	0.5	0.1	1.32	0.26	143	17
24	0.6	0.2	1.89	0.63	259	54
26	0.3	0.2	1,11	0.74	140	95 0
Totals	42.6	7.5	32.23	7.45	2,702	611
	Pine-l	lardwood T	ype (repr	esenting 453 a	ores)	
6	10.1	1.5	1.98	0.29		
8	7.0	1.7	2.44	0.59		
10	7.8	1.8	4.25	0.98	171	33
12	6.1	1.3	4.80	1.02	427	90
14	4.1	0.9	4.38	0.96	418	82
16	3.4	0.8	4.74	1.11	541	90
18	0.8	0.4	1.41	0.71	168	92
20	0.7	0.4	1.51	0.86	178	108
24	0.1	0.1	0.31	0.31	33	33
30	0.1	•••	0.49		53	
Totals	40.2	8.9	26.31	6.83	1,989	528
	<u>]</u>	Pine Type	(represen	ting 132 acres)	
6	17.0	1.17	3,34	0.22		
8	14.1	1.8	4.92	0.63		
10	11_8	0.8	6.44	0.44	446	22
12	6.5	1.8	5.10	1.41	501 1	124
14	6.2	1.8	6.63	1.92	691	195
16	2.0	0.3	2.70	0.42	279	
18	0.6	0.3	1.06	0.53	136	67
22	0.3	0.3	0.79	0.79	82	82
Totals	58.5	8.2	31.07	6,36	2,135	527

Table IX (Concluded)

Stand and Stock Tables

(Average Acre)

D. B. H.,	Number	of Trees	Basal Area per		Volume,	, ft. b. m.			
TUCUO B	Total	Defective	Total	Defective	Total	Defective			
Condition Class III									
	Ha	rdwood Type	e (represe	nting 726 acr					
6	9.8	0.7	1.92	0.14	i				
8	6.0	0_8	2.09	0.28					
10	2.8	0.9	1.53	0.49	3				
12	1.5	0.2	1.18	0.16	75	12			
14	1.8	0.5	1.92	0.53	128	42			
16	0.8	0.1	1.12	0.14	123	13			
18	0.9	0.5	1.59	0.53	105	52			
20	0.2		0.44		58	-			
22	0.1		0.26	· .	27	· .			
Totals	23.9	3.5	12.05	2.27	519	119			
	Pine-Hardwood Type (representing 298 acres)								
6	4.8	0.7	0.94	0.14					
8	2.7	1.0	0.94	0.35					
10	1.9	0.2	1.04	0.11	35	7			
12	1.9	0.2	1.50	0.16	130	14			
14	0.4	0.2	0.42	0.21	24	12			
16	0.8	0.2	1.12	0.28	96	19			
24	0.4	0.4	1.26	1,26	87	87			
Totals	12.9	2.9	7122	2.51	372	139			
	1	Pine Type (repre sent	ing 152 acres)	<u>)</u>				
6	16.2		3.18						
8	5.4		1.88	•					
10	1.7		0.93		67				
12	0.8		0.63		87				
14	1.3	•	1.39		158				
Totals	25.4		8.01		312				

DEVELOPMENT OF CONTROL TABLES

We now have a clear picture of each of the nine different components of the stand, and are able to tell how the number of trees, square feet of basal area and board feet of volume vary from size class to size class within each component. We are also able to determine the distribution of the defective portions of the stand throughout each individual group.

Although the data, as presented in this form, gives a much better picture of stand composition than when presented for the stand as a whole (on either a total or per-acre basis), such an arrangement does not lend itself readily as a useful tool with which to manage the stand. It is difficult to tell just what portion of the stand should constitute the present harvest cut, what thinnings should be made, if any, and what may be expected in the way of future cuts.

Since the stand is now in an unregulated condition, the distribution of the various size classes as they would appear in the anticipated fully-stocked and regulated stand is a better base to use in determining the present harvest and future cuts. But if we were to present the anticipated stand in the same manner as the present components of the stand have been presented, we would still have an unwieldy arrangement of data. Now since the estimated future rate of growth, cutting cycle and maximum harvest diameter have been determined, a series of "cyclic age groups" may be set up, each of which would carry an equal propertion of the diameter range from the average minimum diameter of the trees tallied in the cruise (6") to the maximum harvest diameter. The number

-22-

of cyclic age groups that is to be assigned to each of the three types is merely the number of cutting cycles required to raise trees from 6" to harvest size. This number may be found by subtracting 6" from the average maximum harvest diameter, and dividing the result by the product of the number of years in the cutting cycle and the estimated future rate of growth. For the Hardwood Type, the number of cyclic age groups would be $(24^{\#}-6^{\#})/(10 \times 0.4)$ or 4.5, say 5, and for the Pine-Hardwood and Pine Types it would be $(20^{\mu}-6^{\mu})/(10 \times 0.4)$ or 3.5, say 4. As stated in the introduction to this paper, basal area is the best criterion of the degree of stocking which any particular area should be allowed to attain. Since each cyclic age group would carry a certain range of diameters, it would also have an average diameter for which the corresponding basal area of that diameter (in a fully-stocked theoretical stand) may be read from the curves on page 17. As soon as the theoretical basal area for each of these average diameters have been totaled, we can immediately obtain the percentage of actual basal area that each average diameter, and, therefore, each cyclic age group should carry. These percentages can then be applied to the total basal area of that portion of the actual stand carrying trees from 6" to the harvest diameter, in order to obtain the actual basal area that should be applied to each of the age groups. It has previously been determined that the Hardwood Type should carry 126 sq. ft. of basal area; the Pine-Hardwood Type, 135 sq. ft.; and the Pine Type, 150 sq. ft. (See paragraph 2, page 16). Therefore, since the Hardwood Type contains five age groups in covering the diameter range from 8" to 24", it would take seven age groups to cover the diameter range from O" to 24", and the total actual basal area as shown in the Hardwood Type Control Table

-23-

(Table X on page 25) would be 5/7 of 126 or 90 sq. ft. A similar procedure is followed in determining the actual basal areas for the Pine-Hardwood and Pine Types. By dividing the actual basal area assigned to each age group by the sq. ft. of basal area of the average diameter of that age group (as read from a basal area table), we obtain the number of trees that should be assigned to each age group. Volumes were obtained from the upper curves of Figures II and III on pages 36 and 37 by reading the corresponding merchantable heights for the average diameter of each age group, and then converting those heights to the appropriate volumes as given in the volume tables on pages 7 and 8.

By referring to Table X on page 25, we now have a picture of how the three different types will appear when the anticipated fully-stocked and regulated condition has been reached.

DEVELOPMENT OF CLASSIFIED STAND AND STOOK TABLES

The control tables which have just been developed may also be used in constructing "classified stand and stock tables" for the various stand components. These elassified stand and stock tables are to be set up as the first step in bringing about a regulated forest condition, and the percentages of basal area for the various age groups in each type (with exceptions to be discussed later) will therefore be the same as those found in the control tables.

Due to the variations in stocking between the three condition classes, each condition class will necessarily be treated in a different manner.

-24-

Table X

Control Tables

(Average Acre)

Age Group	D. B. H Range	Average	Theoretical [*] BA, sq.ft.	Percent BA	Act. BA, sq. ft.	No. of Trees	Vol., ft. b. m.
			Hardwood	Type			
I	6-10	8.0	114	15.6	14.04	40.3	
II	10-14	12.0	137	18.8	16,92	21.6	2,160
III	14-18	16.0	151	20.7	18.63	13.4	2,948
IV	18-22	20.0	162	22.2	19.98	9.2	3,680
V	22-26	24.0	166	22.7	20.43	6.5	4,550
Totals			730	100.0	90.00	91.0	13,338
			Pine-Hardwo	od Type	2		
I	6-10	8.0	117	20.1	18.09	51.8	
II	10-14	12.0	143	24.5	22.05	23.1	2,310
III	14-18	16.0	158	27.0	24.30	17.4	3,828
IV	18-22	20.0	166	28.4	25.56	11.7	4,680
Totals			584	100.0	90,00	104.0	10,818
			Pine Ty	pe			
I	6-10	8.0	153	22.6	22,60	64.8	2,592
II	10-14	12.0	174	25.8	25.80	32.9	3.948
III	14-18	16.0	174	25.8	25.80	18.5	4.070
IV	18-22	20.0	174	25.8	25.80	11.8	4,602
Totals			675	100.0	100.00	128.0	15,212

"It should be remembered that <u>each</u> of the individual figures presented in the <u>Theoretical Basal Area</u> column represents one full acre, and that the total of these figures represents five (or four in the Pine-Hardwood and Pine Types) fully-stocked acres. It should be remembered further that the figures presented in this column are shown merely for the purpose of determining the appropriate items to be placed in the <u>Percent Basal Area</u> column. Condition Class I will have a harvest cut (as determined by the method now being developed) and all defective trees removed from it during the first cutting cycle. Condition Classes II and III will permit only the removal of defective trees during the first cutting cycle in what will actually amount to a salvage cutting. During the second cutting cycle, it should be possible to remove a harvest crop from Condition Class II, as well as a second harvest from Condition Class I, but Condition Class III will not be able to furnish a harvest cut until the beginning of the third cutting cycle.

Since Condition Class I is the only condition class to which the control tables may be applied directly, the construction of the classified stand and stock tables for that condition class will be discussed first. The age groups in both the control tables and classified stand and stock tables are spaced according to the length of the cutting cycle, and therefore, the highest-numbered age group in each type will contain the basal area, number of trees and volume which will constitute the harvest cut.

By referring to Table IX on page 18 (stand and stock table for the Hardwood Type of Condition Class I), and using both sound and defective basal area, number of trees and volume, we are now able to set up a classified stand and stock table for that component as shown in Table XI on page 27.

-26-

Table XII

Classified Stand and Stock Table

(Average Acre)

Condition Class I-Hardwood Type

Age Group	Percent B&	Act. BA, sq. ft.	<u>Number</u> Total D	of Trees efective	D. B. 1 Range	H., In. Average	<u>Vol., 1</u> Total I	<u>t. b. m.</u> Defective
I	15.6	6.76	20.2	2.3	6-12	7.8	13	
II	18.8	8.15	8.9	1.8	12-14	13.0	689	132
III	20.7	8.96	6.2	0.8	14-18	16.3	932	120
IV	22.2	9.62	4.6	1.5	18-22	19.6	1,1577	400
V V	22.7	9.84	2.7	1.0	22 🖌	25.8	1,340	457 7
Totals	100.0	43.33	42.6	7.4			4,1311	1,109

The number of trees and volume to be assigned to each age group were determined as follows:

Age Group V	BA	No. of Trees	Vol., ft. b. m.
BA required	9.84		
34" class-0.63		0.1	4 6 (
32" class-1.12		0.2	182
28" class-2.14		0.5	279
26" class-1.48		0.4	213
24" class-2.51	7.88	0.8	342
BA from 22" class	1.96	•	
% BA from 22" class-1.96/3.96 or	49.5%		i.
No. of trees from 22" class495	X 1.5	0.7	
Volume " " - 495	X 561		278
	•		
Totals		2.7	1,340
Age Group IV			
BA required	9.62		
Balance from 22" class	•		
BA-3.96-1.96 or 2.00		1.5-0.7 or 0.8	561-278 or 283
20" class: 4.58	6.58	2.1	533
BA from 18" class	3.04		
% BA from 18" class-3.04/5.30 or	57.4%		
No. of trees from 28" class574	X 3.0	1.7	
Volume " "574	X 595		
Totals		4.6	1,157

-27-

Age Group III	BA	No. of Trees	Vol., ft. b. m.
BA required Belance from 18" class	8.96		
BA - 5.30-3.04 or 2.26	•	3.0-1.7 or 1.3	595-341 or 254
16" class <u>6.14</u> BA from 14" class	8,40 0,56	4.4	626
% BA from 14" class-0.56/5.03 or	11.1%		
No. of trees from 14" class111	X 4.7	0.5	
Volume "111	X 455		_52
Totals		6.2	932
Age Group II			
BA required	8.15		
Balance from 14" class			1
BA = 5.03 - 0.56 or 4.47	4.47	4.7-0.5 or 4.2	455-52 or 403
BA from 12" class	5.68		
% BA from 12" class-3.00/3.09 or	yy•(% x h 7	1	
NO. OF TREE ITOM 12" GLASS YY/	A 4.(V 287	4•1	286
-• 7 7(A 201		200
Totals		8.9	689
Age Group I			
Balance of trees and volume			
Balance from 12" class		4.7-4.7 or 0	287-286 or 1
		5.1	12
O" CLRSS		6.9	
Totals		<u>8.2</u> 20.2	13

Average diameters were determined by dividing the sq. ft. of basal area by the number of trees, and locating the quotient in a basal area table. The defective trees and volume to be assigned to each age group were computed on the same proportions of basal area in each age group as were the total trees and volume.

Classified stand and stock tables for the Pine-Hardwood and Pine Types were constructed in a similar manner, and may be found in Table XII on page 29.

-28-

Table XII

Classified Stand and Stock Tables

(Average Acre)

Condition Class I-Pine-Hardwood Type

Age Group	Percent BA	Act. BA, eq. ft.	<u>Number</u> Total I	of Trees Defective	D. B. I Range	H., In. Average	<u>Vol., f</u> Total D	t. b. m. efective
I	20.1	6.21	17.8	2.0	6-10	8.0	146	21
III	24.5	7.58	9.6	1.1	10-14	12.0	704	78
III	27.0	8.36	6.9	1.0	14-16	14.9	953	143
IV	28.4	8.80	4.2	1.0	16 🖌	19.6	1,106	278
Totals	100.0	30 .9 5	38.5	5.1			2,909	520
		Cond	ition 0	lass I-Pir	е Туре			
I	22.6	5.64	19.8	3.4	6-10	7.3	46	19
II	25.8	6.41	10.3	4.9	10-12	10.7	453	201
TTT	25.8	6.41	6.7	1.2	12-14	13.2	729	55
IV	25.8	6.41	4.1	2.5	14 7	17.0	755	491
Totals	100.0	24.87	40.9	12.0			1,983	766

Only the defective trees are to be removed from Condition Class II during the first cutting cycle. Therefore, the basal area, number of trees and volume, as found ten years hence on the Hardwood Type, for example, will appear as shown in Table XIII.

As stated before, present stocking of trees under 6" appears to be adequate, and referring to the Hardwood Type control table^{*}, we find that 10 years from now we may reasonably expect to find 40.3 trees with a basal area of 14.04 sq. ft. and averaging 8". The total basal area, therefore, will be $43.95 \neq 14.04$ or 57.99 sq. ft. Since age group I would be fully stocked, the basal area of 43.95 sq. ft. for the other

See Age Group I of Table X, Hardwood Type, on page 25.

-29-

Table XIII

Stand and Stock Table

(Average Acre)

Condition Class II-Hardwood Type

(10 years hence)

D. B. H., Inches	No. of Trees	BA per diam. class, sq. ft.	Vol., ft b. m.
10	9.6	5.24	384
12	7.1	5.58	426
14	4.4	4.70	484
16	4.6	6.42	690
18	3.9	6.89	936
20	2.3	5.02	690
22	1.6	4.22	736
24	0.7	2.20	378
26	0.4	1.48	256
28	0.4	1.71	300
30	0.1	0.49	87
Totals	35.1	43.95	5,367

four age groups cannot be proportioned over those age groups in the same manner as was done previously, because age group I would contain 14.04/57.99 or 24.2 percent of the basal area whereas it should contain only 15.6 percent if the Hardwood Type control table is to be used. It is therefore necessary to lower the percentages of basal area to be assigned to the other four age groups. The amount that each should be lowered is obtained by subtracting 15.6 from 24.2 and dividing by 4, or 8.6/4 is 2.15. Age group II percentage would then become 18.8-2.1 or 16.7, age group III-20.7-2.1 or 18.6, age group IV-22.2-2.2 or 20.0 and age group V-22.7-2.2 or 20.5. We now have the proper percentages that should be assigned to age groups II through V, and can proceed to construct a classified stand and stock table for the Hardwood Type of Condition Class II in the same manner as were the tables for Condition
Class I constructed. The classified stand stock tables for the Pine-Hardwood and Pine Types of Condition Class II would, of course, also be constructed in a similar manner.

Since a harvest cut is not to be removed from Condition Class III until 20 years from now, we should find both age groups I and II to be fully-stocked by that time. Adjustment of the percentages for age groups III, IV and V in the Hardwood Type (and III and IV in the Pine-Hardwood and Pine Types) would then be made on the same basis as in Condition Class II. Classified stand and stock tables for Condition Class II, 10 years hence, and Condition Class III, 20 years hence, would then appear as presented in Tables XIV and XV on pages 32 and 33, respectively.

ESTIMATION OF PRESENT CUT

The volume of timber that may safely be removed from the stand during the first cutting cycle (within the next 10 years) may be easily calculated from the classified stand and stock tables. For the Hardwood Type of Condition Olass I, the total cut per acre during this period would be the volume, ft. b. m., in age group V plus the defective volume of age groups II, III and IV, or $1,340 \neq (132 \neq 120 \neq 400)$ is 1,992 board feet. (See Table XI on page 27) Since there are 486 acres in this component (see Table I on page 5), the total cut for the . Hardwood Type of Condition Olass I would be $1,992 \times 486$ or 968 Mift., b. m. Similarly, the respective cuts for the Pine-Hardwood and Pine Types in this condition class would be 350 M and 121 M, respectively, giving a total of 1,439 M for Condition Classe I. Condition Classes II

Table XIV

	Classified	Stand and	Stock Tab.	les-Cond	ition Cla	ass II	
		(A	verage Ac:	re)			
(10 years hence)							
Age Group	Percent BA	Act. BA, sq. ft.	No. of Trees	D. B. Range	H., In. Average	Vol., ft b. m.	
		Ha	rdwood Ty	pe			
I II IV V	24.2 16.7 18.6 20.0 20.5	14.04 9.68 10.79 11.60 11.88	40.3 15.2 9.0 6.9 4.0	6-10 10-12 12-16 16-20 20 /	8.0 10.8 15.5 17.6 23.3	723 1,103 1,540 2,001	
Totals	100.0	57.99	75.4	M eren e		5,367	
		Pine	-narawood	Type			
II II IV IV	33.5 20.1 22.5 23.9	18.09 10.85 12.15 12.91	51.8 15.8 9.5 6.0	6-10 10-14 14-18 18 /	8.0 11.2 15.3 19.9	868 1,315 1,865	
Totals	100.0	54.00	83.1			4,048	
			Pine Type				
I II IV	31.6 22.8 22.8 22.8	22.59 16.30 16.30 16.30	64.8 25.6 15.5 9.2	6-10 10-12 12-16 16 <i>f</i>	8.0 10.8 13.9 18.0	1,413 1,815 2,205	
Totals	100.0	71.49	115.1			5,433	

-32-

Table XV

Classified	Stand	and	Stock	Tables-Condition Clas	s III
		(Avera	Acre)	

(20 years hence)

Age Group	Percent BA	Act. BA, sq. ft.	No. of Trees	D.B. Range	H., In, Average	Vol., ft. b. m.
		Ha	rdwood Ty	pe		
I	18.0	14.04	40.3	6-10	8.0	
II	40.6	31.62	40.3	10-14	12.0	4.030
III	12.7	9.97	9.3	14-16	14.0	1,027
IV	14.1	11.00	7.2	16-20	16.7	1,296
V	14.6	11.40	3.9	20 7	23.1	1,901
Totals	100.0	78.03	101.0			8,254
		Pine	-Hardwood	Туре		
I	24.2	18.09	51.8	6-10	8.0	
II	54.5	40.62	51.8	10-14	12.0	5,180
III	10.0	7.46	6.2	14-18	14.9	805
IV	11.3	8.42	3.8	18 🗲	20.2	1,238
Totals	100.0	74.59	113.6			7,223
		1	Pine Type			
I	21.2	22,60	64.8	6-10	8.0	2,592
II	47.8	50,90	64.8	10-14	12.0	2.776
III	15.5	16.51	15.5	14-14	14.0	1.854
IV	15.5	16.51	9.9	14 7	17.5	2,036
Totals	100.0	106.52	155.0			9,258



and III will permit the removal of only the defective trees, and by obtaining the appropriate defective volumes and acreages of these two condition classes, we find that they will yield a total of 674 M and 155 M, respectively. This will give a total of 2,268 M for the whole area, or approximately 250 M ft., b. m. per year during the first cutting cycle. These calculations are shown in Table XVI on page 35. In addition, it will also be possible to obtain approximately 180 standard (128 cubic feet) cords of fuelwood per year during the first cutting cycle.

ESTIMATION OF FUTURE OUTS

Since the area has been subjected to recurrent fires, it is expected that those trees 12" and under will respond to adequate forest fire protection to the extent of one additional log-length of merchantable height per tree. In order to facilitate the calculation of what this will mean in the way of estimating future cuts, four curves of merchantable height over d. b. h. have been plotted; two for pines, and two for hardwoods. Data plotted on the lower of each of these two sets of curves were obtained from the volume-per-tree columns of the stand and stock tables for sound trees in Table VI on page 15. Data for the upper curves were obtained by adding 16 feet to each of the points on the lower surves. The curves were plotted to only 20" for pines and 26" for hardwoods, because the merchantable heights tend to flatten cut at those diameters. These curves may be found in Figures II and III on pages 36 and 37, respectively.

-34-

Table XVI

Calculation of Present Gut

Age Group or Type	Volume, ft. b. (Per Average A	m. sre)	Acreage	Vol	. per Type, ft. b. m.	Total Vol., ft. b. m.
•	Oondition	Jlass	I (Harves	t Out	<u>.)</u>	
	Hardwood Type	e (re	fer to Tab	le XI	2	
II	132					
III	120					
IV	400					
V	1,340					
Total	1,992	X	486	or	968 M	
	Pine-Hardwood T	уре (refer to T	able	<u>XII)</u>	
Ţ	21		,			
TT	78					
TTT	143					
IV	1,106					
Total	1,348	XX	260	or	350 M	
	Pine Type	(refe	r to Table	<u>x11)</u>		
т	10					
- TT	201					
	201					
TT						
TA	(22					
Total	1,030	XX	117	or	<u>121 M</u>	
Total from Con	dition Class I					1,439 M
Cond	ition Class II (Salva	ge Out-ref	er to	Table IX)	
Hardwood	611	r	507	or	365 M	
Pine-Hardwood	528	Ŷ	453	or	239 M	
Pine	527	ĩ	132	or	<u>70 M</u>	
Total from Con	dition Class II					674 M
<u>Condi</u>	tion Class III (:	Balva	ge Cut-ref	er to	Table IX)	
Ve ndue e d	× 110		704		96 M	
na ruwood Dimo- Vondero d	170	Å V	(20	or	00 M 60 M	
L THR-UN LONGOO	179	*	290	Oľ	<u>oy m</u>	
Total from Con	dition Class III			•		<u>155 M</u>
Total Present	Chat	÷				2.268 M



Comparison of Present Merchantable Height

with Anticipated (New) Merchantable Height



Inasmuch as the primary objective of this plan is to achieve full stocking as quickly as possible, no thinnings are to be made in future outs until the total basal area of each component approaches the basal area as set up in the control tables. Should the basal area threaten to become considerably greater than that set up in the control tables, then, of course, thinnings would be made in order to prevent overstocking with a resultant decrease in the rate of growth.

Once a certain number of trees has been assigned to a certain age group, that number of trees will remain assigned to a single age group until rotation age is reached. For example, we find that age group IV of the Hardwood Type of Condition Class I now contains 4.6 sound trees and 1.5 defective trees per acre. (See Table XI on page 27). Since the defective trees are to be removed during the first cutting cycle, there will be 4.6-1.5 or 3.1 trees left in age group IV. In ten years, these 3.1 trees will have advanced to age group V, and will constitute the harvest cut for that component during the second cutting cycle. (See Hardwood Type at end of first cutting cycle, in Table XVII, and refer to age group V). In order that this progression from age group to age group may be more easily visualized, classified stand and stock tables for the various stand components at different future periods are presented in Tables XVII, XVIII and XIX on the pages which follow. The expression (N) after some of the average diameter figures indicates those trees which have recovered from fire damage, and, therefore, have their volumes computed from the upper curves of the merchantable heightd. b. h. curves. It should be noted that the trees in Condition Classes II and III are not considered to have recovered as quickly as have those in Condition Class I due to greater intensity of past fires.

-38-

Table XVII

-39-

Classified Stand and Stock Table-Condition Class I

(Average Acre)

·	At end	At end of first cutting cycle (10 years hence)							
Age Group	Percent B A	Act. BA, sq. ft.	No. of Trees	D. B. E Range	L., Inches Average	Vol., ft. b. m.			
		H	ardwood T	y pe					
I	23.5	14.04	40.3	6-10	8.0(N)				
II	23.9	14.30	17.9	10-14	12.1	1.074			
IIII	21.2	12.69	7.1	14-??	18.1	1.704			
IV	17.3	10.40	5.4	? 1-20	18.8	1.296			
V 7	14.1	8.48	3.1	20 7	22.4	1,147			
Totals	100.0	59.91	73.8			5,221			
		Pin	e-Hardwoo	d Type					
I	33.7	18.09	51.8	6-10	8.0(N)				
II	23.2	12.41	15.8	10-14	12.0	948			
III	22.1	11.86	8.5	14–18	16.0C	1,275			
IV	21.0	11,24	5.9	18 🗲	18.7	1,416			
Totals	100.0	53.60	82.0			3,639			
			Pine Typ	0					
I	46.0	22,60	64.8	6-10	8.0(N)	2,592			
II	22.4	11.02	16.4	10-12	11.1	1,312			
III	12.9	6.36	5.4	12-16	14.7	648			
IV	18.7	9.19	5.5	16 7	17.5	1,375			
Totals	100.0	49.17	92.1			5,927			



Table XVII (Continued)

Classified Stand and Stock Table-Condition Class I

(Average Acre)

Im	nediately	after second	i harvest	outting	(10 years]	hence)
Age Group	Percent BA	Act. BA, sq. ft.	No. of Trees	D. B. H Range	Average	Vol., ft. b. m.
		He	ardwood T	VDe		
I II III IV V	16.4 32.0 28.3 23.3	7.33 14.30 12.69 10.40	21.0 17.9 7.1 5.4	6-10 10-14 14-?? ??-20	8.0(N) 12.1 18.1 18.8	1,074 1,704 1,296
Totals	100.0	44.72	51.4			4,074
		Pine	Hardwoo	d Type		
I II III IV	36.4 32.5 31.1	13.92 12.41 11.86	59•9 15•8 8•5	6-10 10-14 14-18	8.0(N) 12.0 16.0	948 1,275
Totals	100.0	38.19	64.2			2,223
		•	Pine Typ	<u>e</u>		
I II III IV	54•4 28•9 16•7	20.77 11.02 6.36	59•5 16•4 5•4	6-10 10-12 12-16	8.0(N) 11.1 14.7	2,380 1,312 648
Totals	100.0	38.15	81.3			4,340

Table XVII (Continued)

Classified Stand and Stock Table-Condition Class I

(Average Acre)

At end of second cutting cycle (20 years hence)

Age Group	Percent BA	Act. BA, sq. ft.	No. of Trees	D. B. H Range	Average	Vol., ft. b. m.
		H	ardwood T	7pe		
I	15.6	14.04	40.3	6-10	8.0(N)	
II	18.3	16,48	21.0	10-14	12.0(N)	2,100
III	28.1	25.28	17.9	14-18	16.1(N)	3,938
IV	21.0	18.91	7.1	18-??	22.1	3,266
V	17.0	15.31	5.4	?? /	22.8	2,448
Totals	100.0	90.02	91.7			11,752
		Pin	e-Hardwood	i Type		
I	20.1	18.09	51.8	6-10	8.0(N)	
II	34.8	31.37	39.9	10-14	12.0(N)	3,990
III	24.5	22.04	15.8	14-18	16.0(N)	3,476
IV	20.6	18.55	8.5	18-22	20.0	2,550
Totals	100.0	90.05	116.0			10,016
			Pine Type	2		
I	22,6	22.60	64.8	6-10	8.0(N)	2,592
II	46.7	46.68	59.5	10-14	12.0(N)	7.140
III	20.4	20.40	16.4	14-16	15.1(N)	3.608
IV	10.3	10,29	5.4	16 /	18.7	1,350
Totals	100.0	99•97	146.1			14,690

Table XVII (Concluded)

Olassified Stand and Stock Table-Condition Class I

(Average Acre)

L	mmediately	after third	l harvest	outting	(20 years	hence)
Age Group	Percent BA	Act. BA, sq. ft.	No. of Trees	D. B. H Range	., Inches Average	Vol., ft. b. m.
		He	rdwood T	The		
I II IV V	16.4 23.2 28.7 31.7	7.54 10.52 13.00 14.39	21.6 13.4 9.2 5.4	6-10 10-14 14-18 18 ≠	8.0(N) 12.0(N) 16.1(N) 22.1	1,340 2,024 2,484
Totals	100.0	45.45	49.6			5,848
		Pine	-Hardwood	d Type		
I II III IV	35.9 42.9 21.2	8.05 13.67 16.32	23.1 17.4 11.7	6-10 10-14 14-18	8.0(N) 12.0(N) 16.0(N)	1,740 2,574
Totals	100.0	38.04	52.2			4,314
			Pine Typ	<u>.</u>		
I II III IV	27.2 34.4 38.4	11.48 14.53 16.28	32•9 18•5 13•0	6-10 10-14 14 <i>f</i>	8.0(N) 12.0(N) 15.1(N)	1,316 2,220 2,860
Totals	100.0	42 .29	64.4			6 ,396 ි

-42-

Table XVIII

Classified Stand and Stock Table-Condition Class II

(Average Acre)

	Immediately	after first	harvest	cutting	(10 years]	hence)
Age Group	Percent BA	Act. BA, sq. ft.	No. of Trees	D. B. H Range	Inches Average	Vol., ft. b. m.
		Ha	rdwood Ty	тре		
I II IV V	35•5 24•5 27•2 12•8	14.04 9.68 10.79 5.07	40.3 15.2 9.0 3.0	6-10 10-12 12-16 16 <i>f</i>	8.0(N) 10.8 15.5 17.6	723 1,103 720
Totals	100.0	<u>39.58</u>	67.5			2,546
		Pine	-Hardwood	i Type	·	
I II III IV	49.4 21.0 29.6	18.09 10.85 7.66	51.8 15.8 6.0	6-10 10-12 12 <i>f</i>	8.0(N) 11.2 15.3	868 900
Totals	100.0	36.60	73.6			1,768
			Pine Type	2		
I II III IV	55.1 32.0 12.9	22.59 13.09 5.27	64.8 14.9 5.0	6-10 10-12 12 <i>f</i>	8.0(N)) 10.8 13.9	596 600
Totals	100.0	40.95	84.7			1,196

Table XVIII (Continued)

Classified Stand and Stock Table-Condition Class II

(Average Acre)

At end of second cutting cycle (20 years hence)

Age Group	Percent BA	Act. BA, sq. ft.	No. of Trees	D. B. H Range	Average	Vol., ft. b. m.
		H	ardwood T	уре		
I	15.6	14.04	40.3	6-10	8.0(N)	
II	35.1	31.62	40.3	10-14	12.0(N)	4,030
III	20.1	18,17	15.2	14-16	14.8(N)	2,432
IV	20.7	18.68	9.0	16–2 0	19.5	2,700
V	8.5	7.64	3.0	20 🗲	21.6	1,110
Totals	100.0	90.15	107.8			10,272
		Pin	e-Hardwood	d Type		
I	19.9	18.09	51.8	6-10	8.0(N)	
II	44.7	40.62	51.8	10-14	12.0(N)	5,180
III	22.0	19.91	15.8	14-18	15.2(N)	3,476
IV	13.4	12.19	6.0	18 🖌	19.3	1,200
Totals	100.0	90,81	125.4			9,856
			Pine Type	<u>.</u>		
I	22.6	22.59	64.8	6-10	8.0(N)	2.592
II	50.9	50.90	64.8	10-14	12.0(N)	7.760
III	17.8	17.80	14.9	14-16	14.8(N)	2,384
VI	8.7	8.74	5.0	16 🖌	17.9	1,250
Totals	100.0	100.03	149.5			13,986
		-	-			

Table XVIII (Concluded)

Classified Stand and Stock Table-Condition Class II

(Average Acre)

Im	nediately	after second	harvest	outting	(20 years	hence)
Age	Percent	Act. BA,	No. of	D. B. H	., Inches	Vol., ft.
Group	BA	sq. It.	Tree s	Mange	Average	D. M.
4		Ha	rdwood T	rpe		
1	17.7	7.54	21.6	6-10	8.0(N)	
II	24.6	10.52	13.4	10-14	12.0(N)	1,340
III	25.9	10.99	9.2	14-18	14.8(N)	1,472
IV VV	31.8	13.49	6.5	18 🗲	19.5	1,950
Totals	100.0	42.54	50.7			4,762
		Pine	-Hardwood	d Type		
Ī	22.1	8.05	23.1	6-10	8.0(N)	•
II	37.4	13.67	17.4	10-14	12.0(N)	1,740
III IV	40.5	14.74	11.7	14 🗲	15 . 2(N)	2,574
Totals	100.0	36.46	52.2			4,314
			Pine Type	2		
I	28.6	11.48	32.9	6-10	8.0(N)	1,316
II	36.2	14.53	18.5	10-14	12.0(N)	2,220
III IV	35.2	14.10	11.8	14 🗲	14 .8(N)	1,888
Totals	100.0	40.11	63.2			5,424

Table XIX

		(.	Average A	cre)		
In	mediately	after firs	t harvest	cutting	(20 years l	hence)
Age Group	Percent BA	Act. BA, sq. ft.	No. of Trees	D. B. H Range	Average	Vol., ft. b. m.
×		H	ardwood T	уре		
I II III IV V	34.7 26.0 24.5 14.8	14.04 10.52 9.94 6.08	40.3 13.4 9.3 4.0	6-10 10-14 14-14 14 ≠	8.0(N) 12.0(N) 14.0 16.7	1,340 1,027 760
Totals	100.0	40,58	67.0			3,127
		Pin	-Hardwoo	d Type		
I II III IV	49 .7 29 . 9 20 . 4	18.09 10.84 7.40	51.8 13.8 6.2	6-10 10-14 14 ≠	8.0(N) 12.0(N) 14.9	1,380 805
Totals	100.0	36.33	71.8			2,185
			Pine Type	<u>e</u>		
I II III IV	28.8 36.6 34.6	11.48 14.53 13.79	32.9 18.5 11.8	6-10 10-14 14 ≠	8.0(N) 12.0(N) 14.0	1,316 2,220 1,416
Totals	100.0	39.80	63.2			4,952

Classified Stand and Stock Table-Condition Class III

By the end of the third cutting cycle (30 years from now) all of the stand components should not only be fully stocked, but should very nearly approach the stand composition as set up in the control tables for the various types.

We can now estimate the cuts that might be expected during the second and third cutting cycles. (In the following calculations, 8^* trees from the Pine Types are considered merchantable, because if they are removed as thinnings they would be treated as saw logs.) For the Hardwood Type of Condition Class I, we find that 5,221-4,374 or 847 ft., b. m., per acre may be removed from each of 486 acres during the second cutting cycle. This will amount to 556 M for the Hardwood Type, and, making similar calculations for the other two types, it is determined that 1,109 M may be removed from Condition Class I. For Condition Class II, the total would be 3,279 M, and since Condition Class III is not to be cut again until 20 years hence, the total cut during the second cutting cycle would be the sum of the cuts removed from Condition Classes I and II or 1,109 M / 3,279 Mais 4,388 M. To be more realistic, It may be stated that an annual cut of approximately 400 Momay be reasonably expected during the second cutting cycle. Making similar calculations for the third cutting cycle, we find that the anticipated annual cut has risen to approximately 1,800 M. These calculations are shown in Tables XX and XXI on pages 48 and 49, respectively.

Should it be possible that all of the conditions upon which this plan is based hold true, we might expect to obtain an annual cut of approximately 2,500 M when the entire area has become fully-stocked and regulated.

Table XX

Calculations of Second Harvest Out

(10 years hence)

Туре	Volume, ft. b. m. (Per Average Acre)	Acreage	Vol. per Type, ft. b. m.	Total Vol., ft. b. m.
	Condition Class I (ref	er to Tabl	e XVII)	
Hardwood	5,221-4,074 or 1,147	X 486	ia 556 M	
Pine-Hardwood	3,639-2,223 or 1,416	X 260	is 368 MA	
Pine	5,927-4,340 or 1,587	X 117	is <u>185 M</u>	
Total from Con	dition Class I			1,109 M
-	Condition Class II (ref	er to Tabl	e XVIII) [*]	
Hardwood	5,367-2,546 or 2,821	X 597	is 1,680 M	
Pine-Hardwood	4,048-1,768 or 2,280	X 453	is 1,030 M	
Pine	5,433-1,196 or 4,237	X 132	is <u>569 M</u>	

Total from Condition Class II

Total Second Harvest: Out

*The first harvest cut from Condition Class II is included in the total second harvest cut from the whole area.

-48-

<u>3,279 M</u>

4,388 M

Table XXI

Calculations of Third Harvest Out

(20 years hence)

Туре	Volume, ft. b. m. (Per Average Acre)	Acreage	Vøl. per Type, ft. b. m.	Total Vol., ft. b. m.
	Condition Class I (ref	er to Table	XVII)	
Hardwood	11,752-5,848 or 5,904	X 486	is 2,870 M	
Pine-Hardwood	10,016-4,314 or 5,702	X 2 60	is 1,480 MM	
Pine	14,690-6,396 or 8,294	X 117	is <u>969 M</u>	
Total from Con	dition Classel			5,319 M
	Condition Class II (ref	er to Table	XVIII)*	

Hardwood	10,272-4,762 or 5,510	XX 597	18	3,290 M A
Pine-Hardwood	9,856-4,314 or 5,542	X 453	is	2,510 M
Pine	13,986-5,424 or 8,562	X 132	18	1,130 M

Total from Condition Class II

Condition Class III (refer to Table XIX)*

Hardwood	8,254-3,127	or 5,127	X	726	is	3,720 M
Pine-Hardwood	7,223-2,185	or 5,038	X	298	is	1,500 M
Pine	9,258-4,952	or 4,306	X	152	is	655 M

Total from Condition Class III

Total Third Harvest Out

The second harvest cut from Condition Class II, and the first harvest cut from Condition Class III, are included in the third harvest cut from the whole area.

<u>5,875 M</u>

6,930 M

18,124 M

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

Thus far, only that aspect of forest management pertaining to desirable stocking has been dealt with. Termination of a preliminary management plan may quite reasonably be made at this point if the owners of a forest property are interested only in determining what action should be taken in order that their timber holdings may produce the largest amount of growth possible. But in the vast majority of cases, the growing of trees is, or should be, a business, although it is quite apparent that not all owners of forest properties are aware of that fact. No genuine management plan can therefore be considered complete until the financial aspects of that plan have been determined.

On most going operations, this will mean the calculation of production costs and selling prices in order that the operator may determine his profit or loss. On areas which are to be purchased or sold, it will involve the valuation of the property, through stumpage appraisal, in order that the buyer (or seller) may obtain (or sell) the property at a fair price to himself. In all instances, however, the possibilities of increasing the potential income from a forest property should be thoroughly investigated through the examination of present (or contemplated) production costs and cutting practices, and comparison of these data with those of alternate methods which might be used.

The property under consideration in this particular case presents a unique situation. The financial success or failure of any plan

-50-

applied to the property would not be regarded in the same light as would be properties that are acquired solely for the purpose of making the maximum amount of profit obtainable from the raising and harvesting of the trees thereon. This is true, because the owners of this institution consider the business of growing trees entirely incidental to the financial soundness of the institution itself, and will quite likely retain title to all of the land they now own regardless of the fact that their timber-growing enterprise may, or may not, show a profit. Nevertheless, for the purpose of illustration, it is desirable to show what profit may be expected, if any, and how a value may be placed on the property.

In this effort the writer is hampered, because neither selling prices of the lumber produced, nor production costs of that lumber, are available for this particular piece of property. However, data prepared by R. A. Campbell (3) for Forest Resources Division, TVA Department of Forestry Relations in making stumpage appraisals on TVA reservoir properties, may be applied with reasonable accuracy, since the stand construction and density, topography and character of operation on this property are very similar to those for which the data were prepared.

CALCULATION OF LUMBER SELLING PRICES

Due to the complexity of the stand with which we are dealing, it is necessary to obtain weighted selling prices in order that true sale values for the finished product may be obtained. Table XXII (see page 52)

-51-

stilled prices by species and the sizes (noted gravity)/

In Dollars per M b.f. for lumber produced

é E			9		3	.9	-97	8	. 22	2	**	*	Ŕ	×	ı •
									.						•
	CC 11 22 C	•		•	•	-	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•
		Ĭ	31.50	8. ST. ST.	8	35.25	8	. 31.75	8.8	10.25				•	• •
	Virelata Pise		22-32	80.00	29.25	8	31.50	. 32.50	. 33.50	8.7					
8	White Pine - Log Read		39.00	. 39.00	39.8	39.00	. 39.00	. 39.00	. 39.00	39.66		•		•	•
		•		•	- (•	• •			•		•	•
		•••	•	•••	•						• •	• •			
3	Brerval	• • •	-	11.50	8.27	8.5	. 47.00	. 48.50	49-50	8.8	51.50	8.4			
, ·	hered		-	8.2	8.8	8.8	88	88	88	5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	8.8	8.8			
33	Buckeys, Boosh				88						22	88	•	•	.1
38		•					}		2 1 •	3	3	3		•	
ī	Participation and		-	30.92	32.50	8 8	35.50	. 31.50	39.00	0	8.4	3	45.00	. 47.50	Ъļ
4	apple .	•		•				•	•			•		•	•
	Sugar & Ma			. 34.68	8.X	8.66	. 42.00	. 4.50	. 47.00	49-00	87.00	. 53.00	55.00		X
		•		•		•		•	•	•		•		•	ŗ
5		•••		8	25.50	8	8.8	00-16	32.50	X 00	35.00	8	70,00		IJ
1	Chestart - Virsia	• •		8	2.8	39.8	8.9	1.50	8.7	8	8	83	8.57	8.67	
3	Catoser			8 18	R	39.66	. 39.50	. 40.50	. 41.00	8.1		•			•
5	Chesturt-Firgin)	• •		. 33.00	33.55	8.1	. 35.00	05-50	8.X	35.50	35.50	. 05-16	33.50	05-0£	
5		•			8	5	8	8		8					•
38		• · ·		88	8	8		88						88	
:1	Searlet			8	8.62	8	8.66	8	8.50	8.50	8			3	• •
5	Searlet			. 2.5 8.12	2.8	8.8	8.8	8.1	8.8	37.50		•			
3	White - Virgia	• •		•	35.80	8.6	8.2	. 46-00	. 48.50	21.00	8.3	8.3	8.3	. 53.50	•
3	Cutowar & J. Ash			. 35.00	88		88 37	88	8 3 8 8			•		•	•
51	White - Virgia	• •			88	200	8	Ra			0.27	8.2	. 4.00	. 44-00	•
16	Vallee Punler	• •		3				3				•		•	•
34	Vireia	•	_	3	811	8.3	. 46.00	18. 00	8.8	8.3	8.3	55.50	8	2, 2, 0	•
3	Catower			. 3.8	39.66	8.9	. 42.00	8.2	8.1						
5	Virgin			. 05.56 .	8 8	8	8.6	. 39-00	40-50	8.2	42.50	8.0	45.00	. 46.00	
5	Cutower	• •		. 31.50 .	33.30	33.50	8.7	. 35.00	. 35.50	•		•		•	•
															4
3ê >	when show are beed on cell:	Ing prices				Tar hardwood	("4						F. A. C		
د 1	A out and her one and a		3	Propert's					droods to a	llor for No		rices.			
	of the fire Main entre wer					tores t	other labor			al persite		Grade Tield	de Appelach		
	A refers to Appalachian territ			FR 146, S 2		WILLIAM BUS	trued terri	tory as de	Find to M	R 97.					
z S	as band an MTR 229, Table 2,		4 Sept. 7.	1.08	extended 0	1. 2. KU	, to includ		and anidoal	TERM POOR		5. P. S. W	d. are pric	- (R.C) \$5	8

from reference (3) is used as the basis for determining these selling prices. It should be remembered that the institution plans to use all of the lumber it produces in it's own building plant, and that the selling prices are used merely as a means of determining whether or not the operation could be conducted at a profit if the lumber produced was sold on the open market. By obtaining average weighted d. b. h. s for each species from the original stand and stock tables, and by using Table XXII, Tables XXIII and XXIV for the selling prices of the present cut were constructed. The latter two tables may be found on the pages which follow. The average weighted selling prices were thus determined to be \$40.00 per M for Condition Class I. \$35.50 for Condition Class II, and \$33.50 for Condition Class III. Selling prices were computed for each condition class only instead of for all of the various stand components in order to facilitate future calculations. It should be noted that Basswood selling prices were used for Misc. species, because Basswood forms a very large proportion of that group. The price for Scarlet Oak-(S) was used for Hickory, because no value is given for Hickory. Since Hickory is such a very low value species when used as lumber, it was felt that the lowest value in the table, i. e., the value of Scarlet Oak-(S), would be comparable to the value that would be placed on Hickory if it could be sold.

-53-

Now since this plan is based upon a good many conditions, any or all of which are subject to change, it is not desirable to predict estimated future cuts beyond the end of the second cutting cycle, i. e., 20 years from now. Neither is it desirable to predict what selling prices and production costs will be beyond the end of that

Table XXIII

Calculations of Selling Prices for Present Out

(Per M ft., b. m.)

Condition Class I-Harvest Trees

Species and Avera Weighted d. b. h	•	Sellin Ta	g Price ble XXI	from I	% of Species	Av Se	Ave. Weighted Selling Price	
	He	rdwood	Туре					
White Oak (Virgin) (28*)		\$54.00	X	.216	or	\$11.68	
Chestnut Oak (Out	over) (26")		44.50	X	•528	or	23.50	
Reddand Black Oak	s (26*)		46.00	X	.057	or	2.62	
Scarlet Oak (26")			36.00	X	•143	or	5.15	
Yellow Poplar (Vi	rgin) (24")		52.00	X	6	or	2,91	
Totals	•	•			1.000		\$45.86	
	Pine	-Hardw	ood Typ	<u>e</u>				
Shortleaf Pine (2)	O#.)		\$37.75	r	-282	or	\$10.64	
Virginia Pine (18	Ĩ)		31,50	x	-038	or	1.20	
White Oak (Outove)	r) (18 [#])		40.00	X	.102	or	4.08	
Ohestmut Oak (Vir	gin) (22*)		43.00	x	.523	or	22.49	
Red and Black Oak	s (20 [#])		41,50	X	_055	or	2.28	
Totals					1.000		\$ 40.69	
		Pine T	ype					
Shortleaf Pine (10	5")	•	\$35.25	X	.226	or	\$ 7.97	
Red and Black Oak	в (20 [#])	·.	41.50	X/a	.230	or	9.55	
Scarlet Oak (16")	• •		31.50	X	.117	or	3.69	
Beech (14")			34.00	X	.307	or	10.43	
Gum (18")			35.50	X	.120	or	4,26	
Totals					1.000		\$35.90	
Type Ave	. Weighted S	elling	% of	Ave. W	leighted	Sell	ling	
	Price of Ty	pe	Type	Price	of Harve	est 1	rees	
Hardwood	\$45.86	X	.418	or	\$19.17	7		
Pine-Hardwood	40.69	X	•346	or	14.08	3		
Pine	35.90	X		or	8.47	L		
Totals			1.000		\$41.72	2		

Table XXIII (Continued)

Calculations of Selling Prices for Present Out

(Per M ft., b. m.)

Condition Class I-Defective Trees

Species and Ave Weighted d. b.	h.	Selling F Table	rice from XXII	n % of Species	Av Se	e. Weighte lling Pric	d e
	H	ardwood Ty	ре				
White Oak (Cuto	over) (20")	\$41		045	or	\$ 1.85	
Ohestnut Oak (V	(18 [#])	- 40	•50 X	. 415	or	16.82	
Red and Black (aks (20 [#])	41	.50 X	. 037	or	1.54	
Yellow Poplar ((Outover) (22")	44	. OO. X	062	or	2.73	
Hickory (Scarle	t Oak-S) (16")	25	.00 X	054	or	1.35	
Maple (12")		34	•00 X	.017	or	0.58	
Beech (16")		35	•50 X	307	or	10.89	
$\operatorname{Gum}(14^n)$		32	•50 X	.045	or	1.46	
Misc. (Basswood	l) (16")	45	•50 X	018	or	0.82	
Totals				1.000		\$38.0 4	
	Pine	-Hardwood	Туре				
Shortleaf Pine	(12")	\$32	•75 X	•299	or	\$ 9.79	
Chestnut Oak (V	'irgin) (14")	37	.50 X	.131	or	4.91	
Red and Black C	aks (16")	37	•50 X	. 183	or	6.85	
Scarlet Oak (14	••)	29	•00 X	.116	or	3.36	
Yellow Poplar (Outover) (16*)	40	•50 X	.072	or	2.99	
Hickory (Searle	t Oak-S) (14")	23	• 5 0 X	.100	or	2.35	
Gum (16")		34	•00 X	099	or	<u></u> 3,37	
Totals				1,000		\$33.62	
		Pine Type					
Shortleaf Pine	(10")	\$31	.50 X	.614	or	\$19.3 5	
Virginia Pine (12")	28	.00 X	. 140	or	3.92	
Chestnut Oak (V	irgin) (12")	36	•50 X	.082	or	2.99	
Beech (12")		33	.00 X	<u>.164</u>	or		
Totals				1.000		\$31.67	
Туре	Ave. Weighted Price of	Selling Type	% of Type	Averag Price	e We: of D	ighted Sel efective T	ling rees
Hardwood	\$ 38 .0	4 x	•558	or	\$	21.22	
Pine-Hardwood	33.6	2 X	.207	or		6.96	
Pine	31.6	57 . X	235	or		7.44	
Totals		•	1.000		\$	35.62	

Table XXIII (Concluded)

Calculations of Selling Prices for Present Out

(Per Mift., b. m.)

Condition Class I-All Trees

Tree Condition	Average Weight Selling Price Tree Conditio	of on	% of Tree Condition	Ave. Weighted Selling Price of All Trees
Sound (Harvest) Defective	\$41.72 35.62	X X	•733 267	\$30.55 9.51
Total for Condit	ion Class I		1.000	\$40.06 say <u>\$40.00</u>

Table XXIV

Calculations of Selling Prices for Present Out

(Per M ft., b. m.)

Condition Class II-Defective Trees

All Types

Species and Average Weighted d. b. h.	Selling Price i Table XXII	rom	% of Species	Ave. Weighted Selling Price	
Shortleaf Pine (12")	\$32.75	X	.124	or	\$ 4.06
Virginia Pine (12")	28.00	X	.009	or	0.25
White Oak (Cutover) (14")	37.00	X	.027	or	1.00
Ohestnut Oak (Virgin) (18")	40.50	X	.370	or	15.00
Red and Black Oaks (16")	37.50	X	.085	or	3.19
Hickory (Scarlet Oak-S) (14")	23.50	X	140	or	3.29
Maple (16")	39.00	X	.054	or	2.11
Beech (18^{μ})	37.00	X	.021	or	0.78
Scarlet Oak (14")	23.50	x	.033	or	0.78
Yellow Poplar (Outover) (14")	39.00	x	.021	or	0.82
$\operatorname{Gum}(16^{\texttt{H}})$	34.00	x	.091	or	3.09
Misc. (Basswood) (12")	41.50	X	.025	or	1.04
Totals			1.000		\$35.41

Total for Condition Class II

say \$35.50

Table XXIV (Concluded)

Calculations of Selling Prices for Present Out

(Per M ft., b. m.)

Condition Class III-Defective Trees

All Types

Species and Average Weighted d. b. h.	Selling Price i Table XXII	rom	% of Species	Ave Se	e. Weighted lling Price
Shortleaf Pine (12")	\$32.75	x	.170	or	\$ 5.56
Chestnut Oak (Virgin) (16")	39.00	X	. 294	or	11.48
Red and Black Oaks (14")	35.00	X	.110	or	3 . 85
Scarlet Oak (12")	28.00	X	.023	or	0.64
Hickory (Scarlet Oak-S) (16")	25.00	· X	.215	or	5•37
Beech (16")	35.50	X	.158	or	5.60
Gum (14 ⁿ)	32.50	X	.030	or	0.98
Totals			1,000		\$33.48
Total for Condition Class III				891	r \$55,50

period, because they are far more difficult of estimation than are estimates of future cuts. About the only way that future selling prices can be estimated is to assume that each individual species will remain at more or less the same level, but that the average weighted selling price of the hardwood portion of the stand will be increased somewhat due to the removal of inferior species and general stand improvement. Since Virginia (scrub) pine forms only a very small portion of the total pine volume, it is assumed that shortleaf pine selling prices will be reasonably accurate for future pine cuts.

It was decided that the most practical method of setting an average weighted selling price on the hardwood portion of the stand for future cuts, would be to determine the present average weighted selling price and d. b. h., and then compare that selling price at

-57-

weighted selling price of the hardwood trees in Condition Class I is \$41.50 per M.

Table XXV

Calculation of Present Average Weighted Selling Prices for Hardwoods (Per M ft., b. m.)

· · ·

Condition Class I-Harvest Trees (refer to Table XXIII)

Туре б	Selling Price of Ha	rdwood Trees in T	уре	% of Type	Ave Se]	. Weighted ling Price
Hardwood		\$45.86	X	•346	is	\$19.20
Pine-Hardwood	<u>\$40.69-(\$10.64 /</u> 1.000-(.282 /	\$1.20) or \$42.45 .038)	X	•418	is	14.70
Pine	<u>\$35.90-\$7.97</u> 1.000226	or \$36.10	X	•263	is	9.50
Total for Harves	t Trees			1.000		\$43.40
Condition	Class I-Defective	Trees (refer to !	[ab]	e XXII	<u>I)</u>	
Hardwood		\$38.04	X	•558	is	\$21.22
Pine-Hardwood	<u>\$33.62-\$9.79</u> 1.000299	or \$34.00	X	. 207	is	7.04
Pine	<u>\$31.67-(\$19.35 /</u> 1.000-(.614 /	<u>\$3.92)</u> or \$34.17 .140)	X	•235	is	8.03
Total for Defect	ive Trees			1.000		\$36.49
	Condition Cla	ss I-All Trees				
Tree Condition	Average Weighted Selling Price of Tree Condition	% of Tree Ave Condition Pr). W rice	eighte of Al	d Se 1 Tr	lling ees
Sound (Harvest) Defective	\$43.40 1 36.49 1	•733 • <u>-267</u>	\$3	1.80 9.75		
Total for Condit	ion Class I	1.000	\$4	1 . 55 s	ay \$	41.50

The average weighted d. b. h. of the hardwood trees to be included from Condition Class I in the present cut was determined to be 20" from the original stand and stock tables. (See Table XXVI below). Now referring to Table XXII, we find that 20" Virgin Chestmut Oak has a selling price of \$41.50 per M, and since this value is somewhat above most of the other values for hardwoods, it is believed that the value of Virgin Chestmut Oak may be used as the selling price for hardwood trees in Condition Class I during the second and third cuts. Similar calculations show Virgin Yellow Poplar (S) and Cutover Yellow Poplar (S) to be the appropriate future selling prices for Condition Classes II and III, respectively. These latter two values run somewhat lower than does the one for Condition Class I, but it is believed that they will be applicable, since stand improvement is not likely to occur as quickly on Condition Classes II and III as on Condition Class I.

CALCULATION OF LOG AND LUMBER PRODUCTION COSTS

The first step in determining production costs is to calculate average weighted diameters and volume percents for the pines and hardwoods separately. For the present cut, they were computed from the original stand and stock tables, and are presented in Table XXVI, which follows.

Table XXVI

Average Weighted Diameters and Volume Percents for the Present Cut

Oondition	Ave. Weighted	Diam., In.	Volume Pe	rcent	Totals
Class	Hardwood	Pine	Hardwood	Pine	
I	20	14	. 883	.117	1.000
II	16	12	. 867	.133	1.000
III	16	12	.830	.170	1.000

-59-

For the second and third cuts, it was assumed that the trees found in the Pine Types of the three condition classes would be representative of the pine portion of the stand, and that those found in the Pine-Hardwood and Hardwood Types would reasonably represent the hardwood portion. Necessary computations were made, and the results are presented in Table XXVII, which follows.

Table XXVII

Average Weighted Diameters and Volume Percents for Future Cuts Condition Class Ave. Weighted Diam., In. Volume Percent Totals Hardwood Pine Hardwood Pine Second Cut-10 years hence I (See Table XVII) 20 16 .833 .167 1.000 II (See Tables XIV & XVIII) 20 16 .826 •174 1.000 Third Out-20 years hence I (See Table XVII) 18 14 .818 .182 1.000 II (See Tables XIV & XVIII) 14 12 .837 .163 1.000 III (See Tables XV & XIX) 16 14 **.888** .112 1.000

Inspection of Table XVII at once reveals a serious decline in average weighted diameters for the third cut. This is due in part to the preponderance of the younger and smaller-sized trees which occupy more than their allotted share of the area as set up in the control tables. It is due also to the inclusion of this smaller-sized material as part of the harvest cut. A large share of the trees which should be marked for cutting during the third cutting cycle will, in reality, constitute nothing more than thinnings made for the purpose of preventing over-stocking. Removal of these trees will, of course, increase production costs and decrease selling prices to such an extent that the unit profit will be appreciably decreased. But since the institution's owners desire to produce the maximum amount of lumber possible, and since this is only an illustrative case, we may proceed to treat hardwood trees, 10" and up, and pine trees, 8" and up, as merchantable, and carry out further calculations accordingly.

By map inspection, and making due allowance for actual field conditions as based upon the writer's personal knowledge of the area, the average slope was determined to be 30%. Average skidding distances, and round-trip hauling distances from loading point to the mill, were then determined, and may be found in Table XXVIII, which follows.

Table XXVIII

Average Skidding and Round-Trip Hauling Distances

Condition	Average Skidding	Average Round-Trip Hau	ling Distance, Miles
Olass	Distance, Feet	Well-Graded Gravel Roa	d Hard Surface Road
I	1,000	1.5	1.5
II	950	1.7	3.0
III	750	2.0	3.0

The hourly rates for a $l_{\overline{2}}^{1}$ ton truck as prepared by Campbell, and obtained from reference (3), are shown in Table XXIX on page 62. It is believed advisable, however, to develop the machine rate in the manner described by Matthews in reference (4). The actual machine rate used was therefore calculated by the latter method, and is presented in Table XXX on page 63. Reference to Table XXX shows the total fixed cost per hour to be \$1.02; and this figure is used as the truck "stand-by" charge in calculating the loading, unloading and delay cost.

-61-

Table XXIX HOURLY RATES

1 ¹ Ton Truck	V.ood s Per 8 hr. Day	Highway Fixed Hourly Cost
A. Current Operating Costs		
1. Direct labor costs		
(a) Driver @ 50¢	\$4.00	. 50
$\frac{1}{2}$ time of helper 2	2.00	-
(b) Industrial compensation, insurance,		
soc. sec. 4 8%	.48	.04
	6.48	• 54
2. Other direct costs		
(a) Gas @ 1.0 gal. per hr. @ 25d	2.00	
(b) Oil and greasing @ .063	.50	
(c) Repairs - labor and supplies ³ /	1,20	
(d) Tires ¹ /	2.10	•
(a) Supervision and overhead	2.40	10
(c) supervision and overnoad	1.00	• 14
	7.10	
B. Ownership Cost4/		
1. Investment $@ <000$ without times		
300 trade in value - \$600		
to be depresented in 2 yrs - 6700		
	• • •	
2. Interest @ 6% of average value Average Value = <u>\$900 / 300</u> = \$600 2	1.20	
Interest per day = $\frac{600 \times .06}{250}$. 14	
3. License @ \$30 / Insurance @ \$10 - \$70 + 250 days	28	
	1.62	. 20
Total cost per ley	\$15.20	
Woods Operating cost per hr.	1.90*	.86
Highway Fixed Cost per Hr. (Rounded off)		.85
1/ Basic data for this part was taken from table 2 of "Roo South Carolina" study by Forest Products Laboratory adjust by Garver and Kirkland. 2/ It is assumed that without this helper that the skidder during loading time and it is more economical to use a help hour than skidder 2 \$1.00 unless large logs are being load cross haul. In the latter case a separate loading charge 3/ These costs are from the WPB publication entitled, "Hau In the Pulpwood Industry," December 1942.	fer Operations and to 1943 per estable per estable to ad which read should be mailing Cost Co ad reference	onin prices ied up (55¢) per quire a ade ontrol
* Add approximately 15¢ per hr. for log trailer but incre hauled per load from 1 M b. f. to 1600 bd. ft Int. rule	aso average	volume

ł

R.A.C. Fob. 1944

-62-

-63-

Table XXX

Hourly Rates for a $l_{\overline{a}}^{1}$ Ton Truck (refer to Table XXIX)

Fixed cost per hour

Operating labor- <u>\$4.00</u> or 8	\$0.500
Industrial compensation, insurance, soc. sec. @ 8%- <u>\$0.32</u> or 8	0.040
Depreciation- <u>\$2.40</u> or 8	0.300
Interest: @ 6%-\$0.14 or	0.018
License and Insurance-\$0.28 or	0.035
Supervision and Overhead- <u>\$1.00</u> or 8	0.125

\$1.018

Total fixed cost per hour

say \$1.02

Operating cost per hour:

Tires- <u>\$2.40</u> or	\$0.300
Repairs: Labor and Supplies- <u>\$1.</u>	<u>20</u> or 0.150
Gas- <u>\$2.00</u> or	0.250
0il and greasing-\$0.50 or	0.063

\$0.763

Total operating cost per hour

say \$0.76

\$1.781

Total running cost per hour

say \$1.78

The total running cost per hour of \$1.78 is used in determining the hauling cost. It is believed that Campbell's purchase price of \$900 for a $l_{\overline{S}}^{1}$ ton truck, as used in calculating the depreciation on the investment could more reasonably be estimated to be \$1,500 under present conditions, and the depreciation item has therefore been



increased to \$0.30 per hour as found in Table XXX. Other data used in calculating production costs were also obtained from reference (3), and may be found in Tables XXXII and XXXIII and Figure IV on pages 66, 67 and 68, respectively. By using Tables XXX, XXXII and XXXIII and Figure IV, it is now possible to calculate production costs as illustrated for the present cut from Condition Class I in Table XXXI, which follows.

Table XXXI

Calculation of Production Costs (Present Out)

(Refer to Tables XXVI and XXVIII)

Condition Class I

Pine Trees

Felling and Bucking-3.6 hrs. X \$0.65 X 1.25	\$ 2.93
Skidding (Tractor)-1st 250' @ 0.7 hrs0.7 hrs. Balance of haul-750' @ 0.28 per 250'-0.84	
1.54 hrs. X \$2.05 X 1.25	3.94
Loading, unloading and delay-0.8 hrs. X (\$1.02 / \$0.65) X 1.25 1.1 M	1.52
Hauling- <u>\$1.78 X (1.5 mi. X 5 min. ≠ 1.5 mi. X 9 min.)</u> X 1.25 60 min. X 1.1 M	0.71
Milling-6.3 hrs. X \$0.80 X 1.25	6,30
Gross cost per M	\$15.40
Margin © 20%	
Direct cost of production for pine trees, per M	\$18.48



Table XXXI (Concluded)

Calculation of Production Costs (Present Cut)

(Refer to Tables XXVI and XXVIII)

Condition Class I

Hardwood Trees

Felling and	Bucking-3.8 hrs. X	1.10 X \$0.65 X 1.	33	\$ 3.62
Skidding (T: Balance of	ractor)-1st 250' @ 0 f haul-750' @ 0.16 p	.4 hrs0.4 hrs. er 250'- <u>0.48</u>		
		0.88 hrs.	X \$2.05 X 1.33	2.39
Loading, un	loading and delay- <u>0.8</u>	8 hrs. X (\$1.02 ≠ 1.0 M	\$0.65) X 1.33	1.73
Hauling- <u>\$1.</u>	78 X (1.5 mi. X 5 min 60 min.)	<u>n. ≠ 1.5 mi. X 9 1</u> K 1.0 M	<u>min.)</u> X 1.33	0.83
Milling-6.2	hrs. X \$0.80 X 1.33			6.60
Gross cost j	er Ma			\$15.17
Margin @ 25%	6			
Direct cost	of production for he	ardwood trees, per	r M	\$18.96
		ll Trees		
Tree Type	Cost of Tree Type	% of Tree Type	Weighted Cost	per M
Pine Herdwood	\$18.48 18.06	.117	\$ 2.16	
	10.920	•007	_10,[2	
Totals		1.000	\$18.88	

Direct cost of production per M for Condition Class I say \$19.00

It should be noted that production costs have been increased 25% and 33% for pine and hardwood, respectively, due to price increases and lowered labor and machine efficiencies since the production tables were released. (See reference 3). Production cost figures were rounded off to the nearest \$0.25 per M in order to keep them in the same plane with the selling prices. Table XYYII

PINE PRODUCTION COST FACTORS PER M.B.F. J-PRELIMINARY

		AVERAGE	APPLICABLE RANGE				N CLASS				
COST ITEMS	REFERENCE	NOURLY RATE 2/	FACTOR PER M B.F. 3/	.01	12"	- 11	-91		20"	24*	
A. VARYING WITH D. B. N.		Dollars	Hours		Nours	per N b.f.					
Constants 14/ 2. Suming (Falling and Pucking) 5/ 2. (constant) 5/	C,D,K, & Curves H (P. 100)	55 85	8 - 1.5 - 1.5	5.0	4.2 1.0	9.0 7	3.–	8) 6	2.5 .8	2.3 .8	
z. Cull Disposal Z/ 4. Milling	A,C,D,G, & Curves	999 999	.7 - 1.5	* *	- 6. - 9		3.6	ສະຫຼຸ	3.2	3.0	
Yariables 8/		Man & Team								ſ	
5. Bunching Logs (Average e 50')	C,D,J,K, & Curves	8.	.7 - 1.5		.		s.	* .	≠.	.	
(Add 80% for every added 100') 2/ 6. (a) Loading & Maul (Wegon) e 200'	A,B,C,D, & Curves	1.20	.5 - 2.0	1.2		0.1	e .	ø.	ø.	1.0	
(Add .2 hr. per added 200') 2 / (b) Truck e 400'	A,B,I,M, & Curves	NAN & NACHINE 1.90	.8 - 1.2	1.1	1.0	6.	o.	ø.	•	0.1	
(Add . hr. per added 400') (c) Tractor a 250' <u>10</u> / (Add 405 (or every added 250')	E,K,L, & Curves	2.05	.8 - 1.5	1.2	6.		9.	.5	•	.3	
B. INDEPENDENT OF D. B. N.			Dollars (per M b.f.)	B/ These con to avera	st items vary ge length of :	greatly bo skid, haul, s	oth by d.b.h lope, and me	. class and thod of ha	d by job ndling (i.e	according , team or	
7. Inprovements (Roads and Bridges)			.00 - 5.00	tractor)	•		-	/			
Total Costs - Net M b.f. in sele 8. Mill Sets (lat e \$50 others \$35)	D. (TVA)	-	.10 - 1.50	2/ Increase text).	costs for la	rge boulders, erare distanc	numerous vi e skid direc	indfalls or it with teau	alopes ove a, beyond 1	r 30% (See 50' use	-6
iotal coate - M b.r. in sale 9. Stacking (for barge operation only) 10. Lumber Maul to Market <u>11</u> / 11. Plus Margin e 205	0,1	•	1.00 - 2.00 1.00 - 7.00	tractor team and truck or	up to 500' fo I wagon from 50 move mill.	r 12" trees, 00' to 1000' 8ee Page 7, N	900' for 16" for 12" and eference A.	and 1500' smaller tr	for 20° tr ees. Beyon	bes.e.Use d 1000' use	6-
<pre>1/ Production figures aboun are in Mam Nours or Man use table: determine from Marking Fally the aver</pre>	and Team Hours per M are size tree-properly	b.f. (net lumbe veighted accoi	er tally.) To ding to cut by	10/ 30 h.p. Costs sh	tractor equip own include a	ed with winch 11 logging co	or "breakdo sts from stu	wn"-costs	and output or loading	are similar. point.	
d.b.h. classes, and apply appropriate rates to the total exclusive of cull trees), e.g., if cull allowant goog of total sawing costs and the total would be be increased but by smaller amounts due to ledvit	ine indicated. Increated in 10% in the saving of 4.7 hours. Milling and some 5% of the cull	use man hours by costs for 12" (und bunching cost on the ground	r cull allowance trees would be sts would also	11/ Use truc roads, & miles dr for 14 t	king costs of 16% for ungr riven per day ten truck (inc	'Bg per mile aded woods ro at each rate iludes driver'	on hard-suri ads. Inter plus fixed (s time at 50	faced roads polate for charges of 0g per hr.)	, 12% for a variations. 85% per options.	raded dirt Add number rating hour e (number	
2/ Hourly rates based on unskilled labor @ 50% per taxes. compensation instrance. supplies and supe	hour. Remaining charg rvision, and depreciat	ges are for Soci tion.	lel Security	trips pe	or day x ave.	vol. hauled r	er trip).	, *			
Rates for 6(a), (b) include driver + # time of h	elper, 6(c) includes 1	Null time helpe		REFI	ERENCES						

2/ Factors used to vary man-hour values according to the character of the operation, e.g., if sale is located near a large mill (30 k/da. plus) use .7 x hrs. shown (for ave. tree) for milling time, or if milling principally scrub pine, vincrease hrs. shown by 20%.

These cost items are relatively constant for each operation - varying more by d.b.h. classes than by jobs. See Applicable Range Factor column for usual limits of variations. 7

Saving data based on average of several curves, shown by C. J. Telford, Reference B. Reduce time 20% for virgin timber. Increase 10% for light cut 2 M/A or less. 2

6/ Add 20% for lopping pure sorub pine.

2/ Since most culls are hardwoods, the hardwood costs are shown. (Pine cull disposal costs are approximately 75% of costs shown on line 1.) To determine C.D. costs calculate ave. size tree (to nearest d.b.h. class) and determine proportion of cull tree vol. to total volume exclusive of culls. Cull disposal costs can be reduced if cull have small tops or are largely hollow.

A. Operating Small Sammilts in Martime, USDA Misc. Pub. 8590. 1943 B. Sockier and Charts by C. J. Telord, USSA, March 1940 E. Tables from R. 64 Aret USS3, Juary 1943 E. Obere operation in South carrier by C. J. Telord, 1950 E. Costs of Tractor Legging in Southerr Pine. VISA Tech. 1950 F. Selective Legging in Southerr Pine. VISA Tech. 1951 F. Selective Legging in the shortleaf a Lobolly Pine Forest of Guif States Regover, USSA Tech. Bul. 2735, August 1953 G. Virginia Forest Service Publication 4233 A. Virginia Forest Service Phile at Small Mills. Ouchika Mational Forest. J. Analysis, USS. April 1228 J. Analysis of Log Production in the Infand Empire Region. Tech. Bul. 7958.

K. Jung 1993 Bidding Proves Most Economical in Car. Piedmont.. (Twesis summary by W. O. Negenstein — Duke University 1991) L. Cost Control in the Loging Industry — D. M. Matthews, 1942 M. Hauling Cost Control — in the Pulpmood Industry — UMB 12-44.

R. A. Campbell Sept 1943 Forestry Relation Dept. T.V.A.
Table XXXIII

HARDWOOD COST FACTORS PER MB.F. J-PRELIMINARY

		AV. HOURLY	APPLICABLE RANGE				D. B. H. (CLASS			
COST ITEMS	REFERENCES	RATES 2/	FACTOR PER N B.F. 3/	12"	. 1 1	16"	18"	20"	22"	24"	28"
VARYING WITH D.B.M.		Dollars	Nours				Nours p	er W b.f.			
Constants 4/ 1. Sawing (Felling & Bucking) 5/ 2. Lopping (Brush Disposal) 2. Cull Disposal 4/	B and Graphs 6 (b) & Graphs		ດ ເສດ ເຊິ່ງ ເຊິ່ງ ເຊິ່ງ	5.0 3.2 4.1	9-6.	4.0 6.0 9.0 9.0		3.8	3.7 3.1 3.1	3.6 3.0	3.5 5.5
	A,B (Table #7) E and Graphs	.80	.6 - 1.2	1.1	7.2	6.8	6.5	6.2	6.0	2.9	5.8
Variables Z/		Han & Team				· .					
5. Benching Logs (Average e 50') §/ (Add 80% per added 100') 6. (a) Landing 2 hawl (Weeon) Av. e 200'	C, B, E, H, 1 Graphs and Pine Table A (Pages 5 & 7)	1.20	.7 - 1.5 .5 - 2.0		 12	9. .	.5		*		.3
(Add .2 hrs. per added 200') §/ (b) Truck a 900'	E & Pine Table A & Pine Table	Nan & Machine 1.90	.8 - 1.2	1.2		1.1	- 1-1	1.1			
(Add . hrs. per added 400') (c) Tractor e 250' <u>9</u> / (Add 40% for every added 250')	D. N. & I	2.05	.8 - 1.5	0	۲.	ø.	ن .	# .		?	*
INDEFENDENT OF D.B.M. 7. Improvements (Roads and Bridges) Total Cests H b.f. in sale 8. Mill Bets (1st 0 \$50; others \$55 10tal Cest + M b.f. in sale 9. Stacking (for barge operation enly) 10. Lumber Hael to Market <u>10</u> / 11. Plas ameria 1 20K - 30K - 11/	V . I		DOLLARS (POT N b.f.) .00 - 5.00 .10 - 1.50 1.00 - 7.00	% of cull tree is di inours (lii 2/ These cos rage leng B/ With cost	vol. times etermined () ne 3) equals t items vary th of skid,	appropriate 20° d.b.h. .3 hrs. to greatly haul, slope for maximum	hours for and cull vo be added to both by d. and method economy it	average sil lume equal) line 1 & 3 b.h. class f of handlin t skidding	the cull trees to a solution of the solution of the solution of the solution of the solution stump from stump the stump stupp state stupp stupp stupp stupp stupp stupp	e; e.g., ave tal, then 10 operating U accordin team of trac to mill of 1	rage cull 6 of 3.2 he stand. 6 to ave- tor).

unless otherwise designated. To use table: Determine from Marking Tally the average size tree properly weighted according to out by 4.b.h. classes, and apply appropriate rates to time in-dicated. Increase man hours by cull allowance (exclusive of cull trees), e.g., if cull allow-ance is 30% then saving cests for 18° trees would be 80% of total saving costs and the total would be 5.0 hours. Milling and bunching costs would also be increased but by smaller amounts (net lumber tally) Production figures shown are in han Hours or han and Team Nours per M b.f. due to leaving some 5% of the cull on the ground. 1

- Hourly rates based on unskilled labor $\vec{\Theta}$ 507 per hour. Remaining charges are for Social Security taxes, compensation insurance, supplies and supervision, and depreciation. For different base rates, proportion, i.e., if local labor can be hired $\hat{\Theta}$ 40% then hourly rate 40/50 = 80% x .056 = 52¢, rounded off = 50¢. 2
- Factors used to vary man-hour values according to the character of the operation; e.g., if sale is located near a large mill (20 M/d. plus) use .6 times man-hours shown -- apply to your average size tree to determine milling time. 3
- These cost items are relatively constant for each operation varying more by d.b.h. classes than by jobs. See Applicable Range Factor column for usual limits of variations. -
- $5 \sqrt{2}$ saving data based on average of several curves. Reduce time 15% for pure stands of yellow poplar or basswood. Increase 10% for light cut 2M/A or less.
- Cull disposal costs represent approximately 50% of line #1 and 2 above (per M b.f.). To determine C.D. costs, calculate average size cull tree (to nearest d.b.h. class) and determine proportion of cull tree vol. to total vol. exclusive of culls. Increase item 1 clarges by the ં

- With costs as shown, for maximum economy in stinuing from stump to mill of rowselfs point use team when average skidding distance is under 150°, beyond 150° use tractor up to 1000°. Beyond 1000° use truck or move mill. See page 7, Reference A, and Reference N. 2
- Costs shown include all logging costs from stump to mill or loading point. Product-ion data shown are averages for 30 h.p. tractors. 2
- driven per day at each rate plus fixed charges of 85% per operating hour for 1g-ton truck (includes driver's time at 50% per hr.) then divide (no. trips per day times 10/ Use trucking costs of 8¢ per mile on hard-surfaced roads, 12¢ for graded dirt roads and 16¢ for ungraded woods roads. Interpolate for variations. Add number miles average volume hauled per trip.) Reference F.
- Unual margin 26%. Use higher margin for special products of high value, such as: ship timbers, yellow poplar veneer, etc., or where production costs are unknown or very high, such as cable logging jobs. (See text for margin exceptions). 1
- REFERENCES

- A. Operating Small Sammill in Wartime, USDA MISC. Pub. 6909. 1949
 B. Tabla From M. D. Carver USF3, January 1930.
 B. Tabla From M. D. Carver USF3, January 1930.
 C. Poorts of Tractor Logging in Souther Fine. SULI 700. Bovember 1999
 C. Costs of Tractor Logging in Souther Fine. SULI 7100. Bovember 1999
 F. Virginia Forest Saver Carbon 493, Octaber 1991.
 F. Virginia Forest Saver Souther Fine. Souther 1991.
 F. Asanil Sammill Utilization of Appel Review Hardwoods (a) Part 11 (b) Part 11
 K. Asurey of Log Shidding Costs in the Lake States. (This is Summary by W.C. Bromley-U. Cost Control In Autor 1991.
 F. Octabel Review Costs in the Lake States. (This is Summary by W.C. Bromley-U. Cost Control In Autor 1991.
 B. Cost Control In Hue Logging Industry D. M. Matthews. 1842.



.

By making similar calculations for the other condition classes and cuts, sawtimber values for the various cuts from the whole area were determined. These values may be found in Table XXXIV, which follows.

Table XXXIV

Sawtimber Values

(Annual Gross Income)

Condition Class	Selling Price per M	Production Cost per 1	n Value Mi per M	Annual Out	Total Value
	4	Present Out			
II II III	\$40.00 - 35.50 - 33.50 -	\$19.00 22.25 21.50	or \$21.00 or 13.25 or 12.00	X 144 M X 67 M X <u>16 M</u>	\$3,022 887 192
Totals				227 M	\$4,101
		Second Cut			
	(1	0 years hend	cė)		
I II	\$40.75 - 38.25 -	\$18.50 18.75	or \$22.25 or 19.50	X 111 M X <u>328 M</u>	\$2,470 <u>6,400</u>
Totals				439 M	\$ 8,800
		Third Out			
	(2	0 years hend	ce)		
I II III	\$39.25 - 33.75 - 33.50 -	\$19.75 23.25 21.00	or \$19.50 or 10.50 or 12.50	X 532 M X 693 M X 588 M	\$10,380 7,270 <u>7,350</u>
Totals				1,813 M	\$25,000

OALOULATION OF FUELWOOD VALUES

The past policy of the institution has been to sell fuelwood to it's employees at cost. For the purpose of including potential fuelwood

-69-

as a part of the forest property's value, however, it may be well to determine what value, if any, the fuelwood would have if produced. From the original stand and stock tables, it was found that Condition Class I contains an average of 0.6 standard (128 cu. ft.) cords per acre, Condition Class II-0.4 cords, and Condition Class III-0.7 cords. Revision of an appropriate table from reference (3) to meet conditions existing on this particular piece of property resulted in the construction of Table XXXV, which follows.

Table XXXV

Man-Hours Required per Cord of Fuelwood from Hardwood Tops and Cull TreesVol. of CordsSkidding @ 100 ft. 1/All Other Production Factors,
Exclusive of Hauling 2/O.11.38.60.61.38.11.31.37.6

Margin @ 10%

1/ Add 0.5 hr. for each added 100' of skidding distance. Use hourly rate of \$2.05 for tractor and driver.

2/ Use hourly rate of \$0.65 per hr.

Use hourly truck rate of \$1.78

Average truck load-1.9 cords

Travel time-5 min. per round-trip mile on hard-surface road, 9 min. per round-trip mile on well-graded gravel road.

By using Table XXXV, and referring back to Table XXXI, we can now calculate the cost of fuelwood production for Condition Class I as found in Table XXXVI on page 71.

Table XXXVI

Cost of Fuelwood Production

(Per standard cord)

Condition Class I

Skidding-1st 100' @ 1.3 hrs 1.3 hrs. Balance of heul-900! @ 0.5 new 100! k 5	
5.8 hrs. X \$2.05	\$11.90
Other Factors-8.1 hrs. X \$0.65	5.26
Hauling- <u>\$1.78 X (1.5 mi. X 5 min. / 1.5 mi. X 9 min.)</u> 60 min. X 1.9 cords	
Gross cost per cord	\$17.49
Margin @ 10%	1.75
Direct cost of production per cord for Condition Class I	\$19,24

We can see at once that the cost of production for fuelwood is unreasonably high, and unless the wood could be sold to the employees for \$19.25 per cord (very unlikely), the institution would lose money on the operation. If the wood could be sold as pulpwood at the mill, there is definitely no chance of making a profit, for the ceiling price of rough hardwood pulpwood is \$8.10 per cord. (See reference 5). Assuming that the institution's owners can be shown that fuelwood can be produced only at a loss as the operation is now conducted, the value of the fuelwood will be disregarded in evaluating the forest property as a whole.

Further inspection of Table XXXVI reveals the excessively high skidding cost to be the main reason for the high fuelwood production cost. Reduction of the skidding cost would call for a reduction in

-71-

the skidding distance and the use of skidding equipment with a lower machine rate. The former could be accomplished through the construction of additional roads, provided, of course, that the unit saving effected through the medium of a shorter skidding distance would be greater than the unit cost of road construction. Specific illustration of how such a balance between skidding cost and road construction cost could be achieved is not considered to be within the scope of this paper, because road construction costs for this particular area are not immediately available. Should the owners be interested in producing the fuelwood at a profit, it would certainly pay them to investigate the possibilities of attacking the problem along the line just discussed. A change in the present method of operation so as to reduce fuelwood production costs, would, of course, reduce sawtimber production costs, and would measureably increase the value of the property.

VALUATION OF THE FOREST PROPERTY

The simplest way to place a value on the property is to calculate the present worth of the property in terms of the annual net incomes that are anticipated from the various cuts. The local construction superintendent has estimated that fixed-per-acre costs will be approximately \$3.00 per acre per year for the first ten years and \$2.00 per acre per year thereafter if the present plan of operation is adhered to. Net annual income for the present cut (See Table XXXIV) would thus be \$4,101-(\$3.00 X 3,221 acres) or \$4,101-\$9,663 is -\$5,562.

-72-

For the second cut, the net annual income would be \$8,800-(\$2.00 X 3,221 acres) or \$8,800-\$6,442 is \$2,358, and for the third and all future cuts the income would be \$25,000-\$6,442 or \$18,558.

For the first and second cuts, the formula for the present value of a terminable series of annual incomes is used. (See reference 6). This formula is written as: $Co = \frac{a(1.0p^n-1)}{.0p \times 1.0p^n}$, in which; Co is the present value, a is the annual net income, n is the period of years, (10 in this case), and p is the rate of interest. Since this is not a commercial venture, a safe (3%) rate of interest will be used. The formula, as written, may be used for calculating the present value of the net annual incomes expected during the first outting cycle, but must be discounted to the present by dividing by 1.0p¹⁰ for the incomes to be received during the second cutting cycle, since those incomes will not commence until 10 years from now. The value for the third and all subsequent cuts is obtained by using the formula for the capitalization of a permanent annual income (See reference 6) in which Co = a. The terms used in this latter formula correspond to those used in the former. The value obtained by the capitalization formula must also be discounted to the present, but is divided by 1.0p²⁰ since the net annual incomes received during the third and all subsequent cutting cycles will not commence until 20 years from now. Setting these three formulas up, we now have the following: Present Worth = Present Income X $(1.0p^{n}-1)$.0p X 1.0pⁿ

 $\frac{\neq \text{Second Income X} (1.0p^n-1)}{0.0p \times 1.0p} \neq \frac{\text{Third Income}}{0.0p \times 1.0p^m}$

It should be noted at this point that the average annual income of the third cut is assumed to remain at the same level to infinity, because it is not desirable to predict the cuts that may be expected more than 20 years in the future.

When the appropriate values are inserted in the foregoing formulas, we shall obtain the present worth of all future incomes. From this value, however, must be subtracted those expenses peculiar to the forest property itself; namely: taxes, cost of fire protection and cost of planting.

The tax rate in the county in which the institution is located is 3%, regardless of the degree of stocking. The assessed valuation of the forest property is a flat \$10.00 per acre. Therefore, the average annual tax for the property is 3,221 acres X \$10.00 X .03 or \$966.30. When capitalized at 3%, total taxes will be \$966.30/.03 or \$32,221.

Adequate forest fire protection is estimated by the State Department of Conservation to cost \$0.10 per acre per year. Therefore, the annual cost of this expense would be 3,221 acres X \$0.10 or \$322.10, and, when capitalized at 3%, the total cost would be \$10,737.

The cost of planting 300 denuded acres will not include the cost of planting stock, since this is to be furnished by TVA. Approximately 300,000 trees are to be planted, and it is estimated that 400 trees will be planted per man-day (8 hour day). Assuming an hourly rate of 0.65, this cost would be 300,000/400 X 8 hrs. X 0.65 per hr. or 750 X 5.20 is 33,900.

-74-

The value of the property can now be calculated as follows:

$$\frac{\text{Value}}{.03 \times 1.03} = -\$5,562 \underbrace{(1.03^{10}-1)}_{.03 \times 1.03} \neq \frac{\$2,358 \underbrace{(1.03^{10}-1)}_{.03 \times 1103^{10}}}{1.03^{10}} \neq \frac{\$18,588}{.03 \times 1.03^{20}}$$

-(Taxes / Cost of Fire Protection / Cost of Planting) =-\$5,562 X 8.53 / \$2,358 X 8.53 / \$18,588 1.3439 .03 X 1.8061 -(\$32,221 / \$10,737 / \$3,900)

= -\$47;500 / \$14,950 / \$342,500 - \$46,858

= \$357,450 - \$94,358

= \$263,092

CONCLUSION

The value of any property is based upon the anticipated use of that property, and if a property has no plan for it's use, then it has no value. If the particular plan of management presented in this paper is followed, it has been determined that the present worth of the forest property is approximately \$260,000. The mere fact that the property shows a positive value indicates that the use of this plan is justified from the economic standpoint alone. This is not to say that the property would not have a higher value if some other plan were to be devised for it's use. On the other hand, it should be remembered that this property has been evaluated under particularly favorable eircumstances, i. e., the ownership is financially able to carry the negative profit which the operation will net it during the next 10 years. Should the owners decide to adopt this plan of management, and should they decide to obtain the largest profit possible from their forest property, it would certainly pay them to investigate the possibilities of changing their present plan of logging operation so as to reduce logging costs.

Since this plan is considered to be only preliminary, a more intensive cruise should be made within the next 10 years, and certainly within the next 20 years. Such a cruise would serve as a check on the anticipated rate of growth, stocking and sawtimber volume as estimated at the present time. It is quite likely that the results of the "check" cruise would vary at least somewhat from the estimated future conditions, and revision of the present plan, or construction of a new plan, would, of course, be well worth-while.

It is recognized that most forested areas with similar stocking are not nearly as favorably situated financially as is this area, and it may quite reasonably be argued, therefore, that this plan has little, if any, real merit to justify it's composition. The writer believes, however, that the vast areas of non-agricultural land which are now idle, but which could be made to produce timber if adequately protected and encouraged, will eventually be put to their best economic use, and that a plan of this type would then prove to be quite useful.

-76-

REFERENCES

1.	Volume, Yield	and Stand Tables for Second-Growth Southern Pines-
	Miscellaneous	Publication #50, U.S.D.A1929.
•		

- 2. A Manual of Forestry-Volume III (Forest Management)-Sir William Schlich-1911.
- Forest Management Handbook-Part II-B by R. A. Campbell, T. V. A. Department of Forestry Relations-1944.
- 4. Cost Control in the Logging Industry-D. M. Matthews-1942.
- 5. Maximum Prices for Pulpwood-R. M. P. R. 387, O. P. A.-Amendment 2, March 11, 1944.
- 6. Management of American Forests-D. M. Matthews-1935.





10000 Feet C.C.O C.C. II, P.H. Hard Surface Road Well-Graded Gravel Road Well-Graded Gravel Road C.C.-Condition Class H.-Hardwood Type P.-Pine Type P.-Pine Type A "= 1 mile -C.C. Contour Interval -20' Contour Interval -20' 4 4

.











